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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Good morning.

          3  My name is Miguel Martinez, and I am Chair of the

          4  Fire and Criminal Justice Services Committee.

          5                 Before I proceed, I want to introduce

          6  the members of the Committee who are here present.

          7  We have Council Member Tony Avella from Queens,

          8  Council Member Eugene Matthews from Brooklyn, and

          9  joining us is Council Member Annabel Palma from the

         10  Bronx, sponsor of Intro. 574, which we will be

         11  hearing testimony today.

         12                 Today we will be conducting a hearing

         13  on Intro. No. 574, as well as an oversight hearing

         14  on the New York City Board of Correction proposed

         15  amendment to the Minimum Standard for New York City

         16  Correctional Facilities. Intro. No. 574, sponsored

         17  by Council Member Annabel Palma, mandates that the

         18  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene issue

         19  free-of-charge one certified copy of a Birth

         20  Certificate to any person who was born in the City

         21  of New York and who was released from the New York

         22  State Correctional Facility after any period of

         23  incarceration, and any person who was born in the

         24  City of New York and was released from a New York

         25  City jail who has been in prison for at least 90
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          2  consecutive days.

          3                 The legislation also authorizes the

          4  Board of Health to issue these Birth Certificates

          5  free of charge. After I outline the oversight topic,

          6  I will ask Council Member Annabel Palma to make some

          7  opening remarks about Intro. No. 574.

          8                 As many of you know, the Board of

          9  Correction has the responsibility to evaluate the

         10  performance of the Department of Correction, and

         11  establish and ensure compliance with minimum health

         12  standards, mental health standards and standards of

         13  confinement in all New York City Correctional

         14  Facilities.

         15                 The Board also reviews inmates and

         16  employees' grievances, investigates serious

         17  incidents, and makes recommendations in critical

         18  areas of correctional planning.

         19                 The original Minimum Standards

         20  adopted in 1978 focus on 16 categories and have

         21  remained largely unchanged for the last 30 years. On

         22  January 19, 2007, the Board issued a proposed

         23  amendment to existing standards. A common period on

         24  the proposed amendment commenced that day and was to

         25  end May 21st, 2007. The only public hearing on these
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          2  proposed amendments was held on April 17th, 2007. At

          3  the April 17th hearing, some law enforcement

          4  officials submitted testimony in support of the

          5  proposed amendment, while numerous legal and prison

          6  right advocates testified in opposition. Advocates

          7  also objected to the process by which the amendments

          8  were crafted, reviewed and moved forward.

          9                 In response to numerous requests to

         10  stop or extend the process, including requests from

         11  me on May 10th, 2007, the Board voted to extend the

         12  common period until the end of June, and to engage

         13  in dialogue with advocates who had attended the

         14  April 17 hearing. That meeting will take place June

         15  14th, 2007. However, the Board has refused to hold

         16  an additional public hearing after many requests

         17  that they do so.

         18                 Therefore, I felt it was necessary

         19  for this Committee to hold at least one public

         20  hearing on this important matter that will affect

         21  the way of upward of 100,000 admitted to City jails

         22  each year.

         23                 The Board's current proposal

         24  includes, among other things, decreasing required

         25  space in jail dormitories, allowing 23-hour lock-in
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          2  for inmates who need protection, eliminate the

          3  requirement that there is adequate prison staff to

          4  translate for Spanish-speaking prisoners, providing

          5  for surveillance of phone calls and correspondence,

          6  denying contact visits during the initial 24 hours

          7  of a prisoner's incarceration, requiring detainees

          8  to live with sentenced inmates in certain

          9  situations, requiring detainees to wear prison

         10  uniforms or modifying variance processes.

         11                 These proposals, if implemented, have

         12  the potential to inflict undue hardship on prisoners

         13  and their families, while the Board and the

         14  Department of Correction have offered little

         15  evidence as to why these changes are necessary.

         16                 We have many issues to discuss today,

         17  and therefore, I will not take up much more time. I

         18  will now turn to Council Member Annabel Palma for

         19  some opening remarks and then we will hear from the

         20  representatives of the Department of Health and

         21  Mental Hygiene regarding Intro. 574.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you. Good

         23  morning. Thank you. You know, thank everyone for

         24  being here today on this important issue.

         25                 My name is Annabel Palma and I

                                                            8

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  represent the 18th District in the Bronx, and I'm

          3  proud to join Council Member Martinez this morning

          4  when we will be discussing Intro. 574. And what

          5  Intro. 574 basically will do is make an amendment to

          6  the local law in the New York City Charter in

          7  relation to the abolition of fees for certified

          8  Birth Certificates for any person being released

          9  from New York City jail, at least who have served a

         10  consecutive term of at least 90 days.

         11                 As we all know, there is much need

         12  for improvement in our current discharge planning

         13  system, and to assist these individuals who will be

         14  returning back to society, and I believe that this

         15  bill attempts to ease the reentry process for many

         16  of these individuals, and will facilitate easier

         17  transition into our society. I look forward to the

         18  Administration's testimony today. I look forward to

         19  continuing dialogue on this issue and I'm positive

         20  that we'll have a positive outcome from Intro. 574

         21  in today's hearing. So, thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Please identify

         23  yourself for the record and start your testimony.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Good

         25  morning, Chairperson Martinez and members of the
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          2  Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice Services. My

          3  name is Lorna Thorpe, and I am Deputy Commissioner

          4  of the Division of Epidemiology for the New York

          5  City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene. This

          6  Division oversees the Bureau of Vital Statistics,

          7  which is responsible for issuing all Birth and Death

          8  Certificates for the City of New York. On behalf of

          9  Commissioner Frieden, I would like to thank the

         10  Council for the opportunity to testify regarding

         11  Intro. 574.

         12                 On an average day, the Bureau of

         13  Vital Statistics' 175 employees provides certified

         14  copies of Birth and Death Certificates on request to

         15  1,700 customers, including 700 walk-in customers,

         16  800 Internet and phone customers, and approximately

         17  180 customers via mail requests. The Bureau issues

         18  over 900,000 Birth and Death Certificates annually,

         19  including 125,000 Birth Certificates issued to the

         20  mothers of all newborn babies delivered here in New

         21  York City.

         22                 The Bureau operates on a

         23  fee-for-service basis, and places great importance

         24  on providing the best possible service to all

         25  customers.
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          2                 Indeed, for many New Yorkers, we are

          3  the first and perhaps only direct contact a person

          4  may have with the Health Department.

          5                 With that in mind, the Bureau of

          6  Vital Statistics continuously looks for ways to

          7  decrease our response time and increase our level of

          8  customer service. As a result, the public has come

          9  to expect, and we have been able to provide services

         10  in an expedited and professional manner.

         11                 Intro. 574 would require the Health

         12  Department to provide free Birth Certificates to all

         13  New York City-born inmates who serve more than 90

         14  days in New York City jails or who serve a term of

         15  any duration in a New York State Correctional

         16  Facility.

         17                 It's important to note that the New

         18  York City Department of Corrections currently

         19  provides this service by purchasing Birth

         20  Certificates for those inmates being released from

         21  City jails as part of their discharge plans to help

         22  promote reentry for a percentage of those being

         23  discharged.

         24                 While the Health Department

         25  recognizes that having a certified copy of the
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          2  Certificate upon release does facilitate an inmate's

          3  transition to society, making it easier to obtain

          4  health insurance, State ID, a passport, to complete

          5  job applications and ultimately to prevent

          6  reincarceration, the Health Department opposes this

          7  legislation.

          8                 The Bureau of Vital Statistics does

          9  not currently provide any City or State agency with

         10  free copies of Birth Certificates for their clients.

         11  This includes all agencies, including those such as

         12  Administration for Children's Services, whose

         13  programs provide social benefits, as important as

         14  those being discussed today.

         15                 In all situations, either the clients

         16  pay themselves or the agencies pay for official

         17  Birth Certificates via an intra-city or other

         18  governmental transfer. This bill would place the

         19  Department under increasing pressure to give clients

         20  of other agencies similar consideration for Birth

         21  Certificates.

         22                 In time this would severely weaken

         23  the Department's ability to provide the level and

         24  quality of services that our public has come to

         25  expect. Other governmental agencies incur costs in
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          2  providing documentation to inmates upon or prior to

          3  release, yet they are compensated for their

          4  services. We understand that the New York State

          5  Department of Health provides free Birth

          6  Certificates prior to release for State Department

          7  of Correction inmates born in New York State but

          8  outside of New York City.

          9                 It's our understanding that this

         10  agency-to-agency transaction is accounted for within

         11  the State's unified budget, therefore has minimal

         12  financial impact on the State Department of Health.

         13                 Further, it's our understanding that

         14  the Metropolitan Transit Authority, MTA, charges

         15  Correctional agencies for the MetroCards that are

         16  issued to inmates prior to their release as part of

         17  their discharge plans, and the New York State

         18  Department of Motor Vehicles and the US Department

         19  of State Passport Offices do not provide their

         20  services free of charge to any subgroups of

         21  customers, including those recently released from

         22  incarceration.

         23                 At the heart of this concern are the

         24  significant costs involved in producing every New

         25  York City Birth Certificate. Providing certificates
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          2  at no cost not only impacts revenue and customer

          3  service, but also overlooks the effort required to

          4  produce and maintain the City's vital registration

          5  and statistics system that produces those

          6  certificates. This includes infrastructure,

          7  development and maintenance, information technology,

          8  personnel, quality assurance analysis and security.

          9                 I would like to reiterate the Health

         10  Department is willing to engage in further

         11  discussions with the Council, with advocates and

         12  with City and State Department of Correction to

         13  identify solutions that meet the needs of newly

         14  released inmates without the imposition of this

         15  precedent-setting legislation.

         16                 Thank you, again, for the opportunity

         17  to testify, and I'm happy to answer any questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         19  We've just been joined by Council Member Vacca from

         20  the Bronx.

         21                 In your testimony, when you say

         22  issuing the Birth Certificate free of charge for

         23  those inmates, do you have an estimate? What's the

         24  total revenue generated from this service through

         25  the Department of Health?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: The

          3  estimate, based on the information we've received

          4  from the New York City Department of Correctional --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: No, total.

          6  Citywide.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Total for

          8  the Citywide, for Birth Certificates it's

          9  approximately $5.25 million -- $5,250,000.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: 5.2. And how

         11  much of that would you say, would you have the

         12  number for issuing of individuals who were formerly

         13  incarcerated?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Yes. For

         15  New York City the total number of inmates born in

         16  New York City, released from New York City

         17  Department of Corrections' custody that would meet

         18  the requirement in the Intro. 574 bill, would be

         19  approximately 4,000 inmates, the cost of a Birth

         20  Certificate is $15, that would be approximately

         21  $60,000 a year. The total number of inmates born in

         22  New York City that are released from New York State

         23  Department of Correction, based on information

         24  provided to us by the State Department of

         25  Corrections, is approximately 21,000 to 23,000

                                                            15

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  inmates. This would equal approximately $345,000 a

          3  year, for a total estimate of $405,000 per year,

          4  that is close to ten percent of the revenue

          5  generated from Birth Certificates, it's eight

          6  percent.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: What is the

          8  arrangement you have currently with the Department

          9  of Correction, when the Department of Correction

         10  requests a Birth Certificate?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Under the

         12  RIDE Program, which stands for Rikers Inmates

         13  Discharge Planning, I think, this is an arrangement

         14  made where the Department of Corrections, New York

         15  City Department of Corrections contacts the Health

         16  Department prior to the inmate being released. We

         17  expedite the provision of a Birth Certificate. We

         18  are compensated for that Birth Certificate by

         19  dollars provided by the New York City Department of

         20  Corrections. And we facilitate the provision of a

         21  free Birth Certificate to the inmate upon their

         22  discharge.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: So, the

         24  Department of Correction in fact pays you?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: That's
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          2  correct. The Administration for Children's Services

          3  also does the same for their clients, and we're in

          4  the process of developing an arrangement with the

          5  Health and Hospitals Corporation for their clients

          6  as well.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Is there a

          8  conflict, or is it contrary to policy that if the

          9  Department of Correction requests a birth

         10  certificate which they're already paying for, is it

         11  a conflict or is it policy for the Department of

         12  Correction not to issue that Birth Certificate to

         13  that individual upon their release?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: For any

         15  Birth Certificate that a government agency purchases

         16  from us, it is an official certified Birth

         17  Certificate, and that can be used by the individual

         18  for identity purposes, or for purposes that they

         19  need. It's different from government Birth

         20  Certificates that we also provide to all sister

         21  agencies at the City or State level which have a for

         22  government purposes only stamp, and this is to

         23  facilitate administrative processes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Can I interrupt

         25  you there?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Sure.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I want to

          4  understand that part.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Sure.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I want to

          7  understand that part.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Sure.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: So, the

         10  Department of Correction requests a Birth

         11  Certificate from the Department of Health, also some

         12  providers request and they pay for it, correct?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: That's

         14  correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Let's go with

         16  the Department of Correction. The Department of

         17  Correction requests a Birth Certificate, before it's

         18  stamped that's the same document that would be

         19  issued for a normal Birth Certificate, correct?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: That's

         21  correct. For any purchased Birth Certificate, it is

         22  an official copy that the individual can use.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: And is it a

         24  policy that if an agency -- does the ACS do the

         25  same?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: ACS does

          3  the same. They purchase -- they do two things.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: No, do they

          5  stamp the Birth Certificate?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: This is

          7  what I'm trying to clarify for you, because I

          8  understand it's confusing. The ACS does purchase

          9  some number of Birth Certificates from us at the

         10  full cost and they use that to provide the Birth

         11  Certificate to their clients.

         12                 They also, for their own

         13  administrative purposes, good governance, they also,

         14  if they need to verify information of a client, we

         15  can facilitate government Birth Certificates with

         16  ACS, those are no cost to sister agencies at the

         17  City and State level.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Now, the

         19  question, is it the policy that if an agency, the

         20  Department of Correction requests a birth

         21  certificate from the Health Department, do they have

         22  to stamp that birth certificate for government use

         23  only?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: If they

         25  are purchasing it? No. No.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: So, in essence,

          3  the Department of Correction could use their

          4  discretion to issue that Birth Certificate to the

          5  individual, without stamping it?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Yes. And

          7  currently New York City, Department of Corrections,

          8  has created a program where they provide that Birth

          9  Certificate to the inmates upon discharge.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: But they can't

         11  use that Birth Certificate.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: They can

         13  use that Birth Certificate. This is a relatively new

         14  effort on the part of the City to facilitate and it

         15  costs approximately $60,000 a year.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: When did they

         17  start that?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: That was

         19  started last year.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: So with the

         21  stamp, government use only, or without the stamp,

         22  government use?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Without

         24  the stamp.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Without the
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          2  stamp.

          3                 Now, when you say loss of, and then

          4  I'll turn it over to Council Member Palma, when you

          5  say loss of revenues, I'm trying to understand, so

          6  currently the Department of Correction is paying the

          7  Department of Health from what I consider would be

          8  City general fund, right?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: That's

         10  correct. I think the Department of Corrections has

         11  made an effort to do this. I think they find the

         12  funding, this would also be appropriate and

         13  acceptable if the State Department of Correction,

         14  for that approximately 340,000, they could purchase

         15  the Birth Certificates, we could also similarly

         16  expedite the provision.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I'll come back

         18  for further questioning. I want to turn it over to

         19  Council Member Palma.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you. I

         21  think you're on a roll, Mr. Chair. Let me see if I

         22  have a couple of questions left.

         23                 Ms. Thorpe, in your own words, do you

         24  think it's important for an inmate coming out of a

         25  State or a City jail, do you think it's important
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          2  for them to have a piece of documentation, such as

          3  their Birth Certificate, to be able to make that

          4  transition into society?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: As I

          6  clearly stated in my testimony, we think that this

          7  is good governance. We think it is helpful in the

          8  discharge planning process, to help facilitate an

          9  inmate to receive a Birth Certificate that is an

         10  official Birth Certificate, free of charge to that

         11  individual.

         12                 The challenge here is this is asking

         13  New York City Health Department to subsidize state,

         14  a large portion of our revenue for State Government

         15  purposes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Now, Council

         17  Member Martinez had raised the issue, and you have

         18  responded by stating that the Department of

         19  Correction already purchases a certain amount of

         20  Birth Certificates at the fee --

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Full

         22  cost.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: -- At the full

         24  cost of the Birth Certificate. What would be

         25  different to your agency in terms of, because in
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          2  your testimony you point out that you will have to

          3  make changes to that infrastructure, and to the

          4  Internet and other areas of the Department, if

          5  Intro. 574 was voted through, and it was implemented

          6  into our local law, what would be different from

          7  what you're doing now?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: It would

          9  not change our infrastructure. It would be a large

         10  labor effort upon the Bureau of Vital Statistics'

         11  staff, and the operations of vital statistics here

         12  in New York City relies not only on the Bureau

         13  itself, it relies on the Department of Information

         14  Technology, the Health Department, health security

         15  for the 700 walk-in customers, our Information

         16  Technology staff at the Health Department, our mail

         17  rooms. You know, it has a very large impact. The

         18  cost of producing Birth Certificates is a very large

         19  effort that several components of City government,

         20  not just the Health Department support.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: So, if we were

         22  not introducing Intro. 574, the 4,000 inmates that

         23  are in the City's jails, our penal system to date,

         24  they won't be getting Birth Certificates, or just a

         25  certain amount upon request?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: I cannot

          3  speak to the Department of Corrections' budgetary

          4  plans for the future. Currently they're making

          5  enormous efforts to provide those birth certificates

          6  to, I believe, the majority of inmates born in New

          7  York City, released to New York City.

          8                 I can't speak to their long-term

          9  viability for doing that but that's the current

         10  process.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: But that your

         12  Department will still have to do all that work.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: We will

         14  work with the Department of Corrections to expedite

         15  provision of those Birth Certificates, because we

         16  believe it is an important service.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: You probably

         18  mentioned it in your testimony, but do you know the

         19  number of Birth Certificates that were issued to the

         20  Department of Correction in 2005/2006?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: I don't

         22  know if we have that number. We don't have that

         23  number, sorry.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: That's it.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chair. I'll give
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          2  someone else an opportunity.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you.

          4                 Would the revenue generated,

          5  particularly with the persons, individuals coming

          6  out of our correctional facility, those revenues

          7  generally would go to the general funds, correct?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: That's

          9  correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: And when you

         11  say there would be a loss, what impact would that

         12  loss have?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: I'm

         14  estimating, based on the numbers provided to us, and

         15  we are happy to share those numbers with you and

         16  rework the numbers, but the best understanding we

         17  have is it would be approximately $405,000 per year,

         18  that amounts to eight percent, or nearly ten percent

         19  of the revenue generated from Birth Certificate

         20  issuances each year in New York City.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I'm trying to

         22  understand clearly the process, because when you say

         23  that you're issuing free Birth Certificates

         24  currently now --

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Free of
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          2  charge to the inmate.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: The inmate.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Not free

          5  from the Health Department. We are paid for it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: They pay for

          7  it.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: The

          9  Department of Corrections pays for it. This is a

         10  government-to-government transfer.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Currently what

         12  we are told is that there are two separate things

         13  happening there.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: That's

         15  correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: One is that

         17  there are some service providers that deal a lot

         18  with integration, are providing the Birth

         19  Certificates that many of the inmates are coming out

         20  with, and particularly not directly the Department

         21  of Correction being the main entity that is issuing

         22  these free Birth Certificates. They continue to

         23  provide the ones -- the ones that the Department of

         24  Correction has are the ones that are stamped. So, I

         25  want to be clear that what's coming out of the
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          2  Correction, we're not giving credit to the

          3  Department of Correction as, you know, giving the

          4  Birth Certificate when it's the service providers

          5  that are the ones that are taking on this task.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: No, I

          7  understand the confusion.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Can you give me

          9  a number of how many Birth Certificates the

         10  Department of Correction has issued for free?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: I cannot.

         12  But we could work with the Department of Correction

         13  and get back to you. But this is a new program,

         14  relatively new program under the Rikers Island Rapid

         15  Discharge Enhancement Program, that was worked out

         16  between the Correctional Health Program in the

         17  Health Department, the Department of Corrections,

         18  and our Office of Finance, and this is dollars from

         19  the New York City Department of Corrections coming

         20  to the Department of Health as an inner-city

         21  transfer. This is comparable to what we do with the

         22  Administration for Children's Services, and what

         23  we're doing with HHC.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Can I ask the

         25  question, what role, if any, would you say, to your
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          2  knowledge, does the Department of Health play in the

          3  Initiative that the Mayor has presented, the

          4  Anti-Poverty Initiative; is the Department playing a

          5  role in that?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: We are.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: You are.

          8                 Do you think it's important for the

          9  reintegration for individuals that are coming out --

         10  because it's a different population, you know, when

         11  we speak about ACS providing these services to

         12  individuals they service, a totally different

         13  population from someone who is incarcerated.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: That's

         15  right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: How now has to

         17  go reintegrate into society, need such a vital

         18  document to move forward in requiring a drivers

         19  license, you know, getting a job, establishing his

         20  identity, and not being able to -- and you're going

         21  to get me the numbers, this program started just a

         22  year ago, not being able from the information that

         23  we have to have this vital document with him to

         24  reintegrate, to move forward, to get a job, to be

         25  part of society and not having that document I think
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          2  is crucial. I think that when we look at the numbers

          3  and, you know, it's not, in my view, a significant

          4  amount of dollars, from 5.5 million, not to generate

          5  300,000 for these individuals that, the very same

          6  individuals that we're trying to reintegrate to

          7  society, I think that's an investment worthwhile.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: I think

          9  I've been clear, and I will reiterate that we do

         10  think it's important to expedite such a service to

         11  individuals reentering society from inmates that are

         12  being discharged. I'm sure that's true for other

         13  populations as well. The Department of Homeless

         14  Services has a very large constituency that probably

         15  has very similar needs. I think there are many

         16  similarities to the clients being served by the

         17  Administration for Children's Services and I think

         18  that there are other populations as well, and there

         19  have been discussions. One could argue that Medicaid

         20  population should be provided with similar services.

         21                 The point that we're making is that

         22  the New York City Health Department cannot subsidize

         23  the needs of all of these client populations, and

         24  particularly when it comes to client populations not

         25  being served by this City's budget and that are
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          2  being served by the New York State budget.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I'll ask

          4  another question, but I first want to acknowledge

          5  some of the members that have joined us. We have

          6  Council Member Vincent Gentile, who joined us from

          7  Queens. Queens, right? Brooklyn. Brooklyn. The big

          8  Borough of Brooklyn. Brooklyn. And Council Member

          9  Addabbo from Queens, and Council Member James from

         10  Brooklyn.

         11                 So, you know, this is a very

         12  important issue for us, in terms of addressing again

         13  the issue of reintegration, particularly for the

         14  population that go through our City jails, and I

         15  would much appreciate if we could get the numbers in

         16  terms of how many Birth Certificates have been

         17  issued under the new program.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Sure.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: From the

         20  Department, and we'll make that request also in

         21  writing to the Department of Correction.

         22                 Do you keep track of the ones that

         23  are to be issued to the inmate, as opposed to those

         24  that are being stamped for government use only?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: There
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          2  should be a good trail, a good paper trail to

          3  clarify exactly how many were purchased by the

          4  Department of Corrections, so I think that's a very

          5  easy --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: But do they

          7  clarify for what purposes, to issue to the inmate or

          8  to government purpose only?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: I will

         10  confirm this in writing to you, but all purchased

         11  Birth Certificates from the Department of

         12  Corrections are provided to the inmates, as far as I

         13  understand. I think that that is certain. But I will

         14  confirm that in writing with you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Because I just

         16  want to be clear, and I understand what you're

         17  saying, but for my purposes I also want to be clear

         18  that when we issue a Birth Certificate that's

         19  stamped, it has no value --

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: We do not

         21  charge government agencies for that. That is an

         22  administrative service between government sister

         23  agencies. And that does entail effort and work and

         24  impact to the infrastructure in the Health

         25  Department, but we don't -- that's within government
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          2  communication.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: So is it an

          4  additional cost to take that stamp off, rather than

          5  when the Department makes a request, is it an

          6  additional cost to take that stamp off?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: It's not

          8  a cost issue there. The issue here is that for any

          9  official Birth Certificate that an individual is

         10  going to use for their own purposes, their own

         11  identity purposes, there is no population subset

         12  that we provide free Birth Certificates to, and I

         13  think the same is true for the New York State

         14  Department of Motor Vehicles, with their driver's

         15  licenses and non-driver's licenses IDs. The same is

         16  true with Passport agencies, the same is true even

         17  in the situation of the MTA providing MetroCards in

         18  the Discharge Plans. Those are purchased.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Are you aware

         20  of any other City agency that requested -- you just

         21  mentioned, other than ACS, you just mentioned also

         22  the Department of Homeless does the same you said?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: We're

         24  working with the Health and Hospitals Corporation.

         25  We're developing a Memorandum of Understanding to
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          2  set that up this year.

          3                 Currently the Department of Homeless

          4  Services does not purchase Birth Certificates from

          5  us. We have staff currently at a national Vital

          6  Statistics Conference where vital registration

          7  jurisdictions gather, and we did do a survey of all

          8  the members that are attending that conference, and

          9  none of the other 23 jurisdictions, with the

         10  exception of New York State, which works it out

         11  within its own agency budget, none of the other

         12  three, 23 vital registration jurisdictions provide

         13  free Birth Certificates to inmates.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I'm trying to

         15  remember when my son was born. You issue two.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Exactly.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: One free of

         18  charge, right?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Right.

         20  So, when a child is born in New York City, a free

         21  Birth Certificate is provided to the mother of the

         22  newborn, together with a Correction form. This is a

         23  very critical opportunity for us to provide a Birth

         24  Certificate to the newly arrived resident of New

         25  York City, but also to verify the information on
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          2  that Birth Certificate and make it accurate for

          3  perpetuity. We also mail public health education

          4  information to the family at that time, and that's

          5  been true for many decades.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: And I want to

          7  make clear that that's the same concept, in terms of

          8  compassion and caring, or a new opportunity, to

          9  reintegrate as an adult now, those individuals that

         10  may be seeking a second chance in providing them a

         11  free certificate. The first one they pay for, now

         12  hopefully we're going to reintegrate them, you know,

         13  and allowing that opportunity, which is the extent

         14  of the author of this bill, the main sponsor,

         15  Council Member Palma and our intent here at the

         16  Council, in addressing this critical issue that's

         17  come to our attention, in terms of this vital

         18  document being made available to the inmates.

         19                 And we heard you clearly in terms of

         20  the new program that has just started. We're going

         21  to continue to have dialogue with the Department on

         22  that, and look at the number and see how well it

         23  works, as well as engaging the Department of

         24  Correction in this matter, because we've heard from

         25  the Department of Correction that it is a DOT --
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          2  excuse me, Department of Health issue, not so much a

          3  Department of Correction issue. I think that they

          4  bear much of the responsibility here also.

          5                 Seeing no further questions --

          6  Council Member Palma.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Ms. Thorpe,

          8  what's the name of the program that you made

          9  reference to that provides the free Birth

         10  Certificates?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: It's the

         12  Rikers Island Rapid Discharge Enhancement. The

         13  acronym is RIDE, R-i-d-e.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay.

         15                 And do you know if an inmate requires

         16  any eligibility to receive a birth certificate, or

         17  it's just furnished to them?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: I'm not

         19  aware whether there are eligibility or exclusion

         20  criteria. But, again, that's information we can

         21  provide you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay. Thank

         23  you.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you,

          3  Commissioner.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: We're going to

          5  take testimony on Intro. 574. The first panel will

          6  include Rima Vesely-Flad from ICARE, Chris Policano

          7  from Phoenix House, Barry Campbell from the Fortune

          8  Society, and Earl Kooperkamp from St. Mary's

          9  Episcopal Church, also affiliated with ICARE. And

         10  then just for planning purposes, the next panel will

         11  be Heidi Van Es, Tamika Lisbon, Barbara Sherman and

         12  Deborah Wright.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: You may start

         14  and identify yourself.

         15                 MS. VESELY-FLAD: Good morning. Thank

         16  you very much for this opportunity to testify this

         17  morning on Intro. 574. My name is Rima Vesely-Flad.

         18  I am the Founder and Director of the Interfaith

         19  Coalition of Advocates for Reentry and Employment,

         20  also known as ICARE.

         21                 ICARE engages communities of faith in

         22  advocating for the restoration of rights of formerly

         23  incarcerated people while assisting congregations in

         24  the development of prison and reentry ministries.

         25                 There are several member
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          2  congregations and organizations at the ICARE

          3  Coalition, some of which are listed in the

          4  testimony. I won't go through all of them in the

          5  interest of time, but they are there for your

          6  perusal.

          7                 As elected representatives, you have

          8  wide grassroots support for passing Intro. 574. As

          9  the Director of ICARE, I educate communities of

         10  faith throughout New York State about the high cost

         11  of incarceration recidivism in impoverished

         12  communities of color.

         13                 The response to the plight of people

         14  with criminal convictions is always the same,

         15  outrage at the failure of criminal justice public

         16  policies and empathy for the individuals and their

         17  families who are subjected to these policies.

         18                 Men and women returning home need

         19  basic opportunities for housing, employment, health

         20  care and obtaining identification cards. Abolishing

         21  the fees for certified Birth Certificates will

         22  remove great obstacles in the reentry process. The

         23  cost of getting them is prohibitive to many

         24  individuals, and yet, they are often required by

         25  employers in government agencies.
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          2                 For example, in order to receive a

          3  non-driver's identification card, the New York State

          4  Department of Motor Vehicle stipulates the following

          5  rules:

          6                 A prison ID alone has no points

          7  towards a NY ID.

          8                 They also stipulate that four pieces

          9  of identification are needed in order to receive a

         10  non-driver's ID card: A US Birth Certificate, a

         11  temporary DOC identification card, a letter from a

         12  Parole Officer and a Social Security Card, with the

         13  same name as the DOC identification card.

         14                 The vast majority of individuals

         15  released from State prisons and New York City jail

         16  seek to obtain a non-driver's State ID soon after

         17  returning to the community. The Office of

         18  Transitional Services and State Facilities assists

         19  individuals in preparing to apply for State

         20  identification. However, these men and women face

         21  unnecessary barriers in obtaining official Birth

         22  Certificates.

         23                 Ironically, the current practice of

         24  New York City's Bureau of Vital Statistics,

         25  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, is to
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          2  provide State Correctional Facilities with

          3  "Government File Copy. Not For Personal Use"

          4  stamped Birth Certificates. There is a copy at the

          5  back of this testimony that shows what those stamped

          6  Birth Certificates look like.

          7                 These unofficial Birth Certificates

          8  are not supposed to be distributed to incarcerated

          9  men and women, due to the fact that Vital Statistics

         10  is a revenue-generating agency and does not provide

         11  free Birth Certificates to individuals. And Reverend

         12  Kooperkamp, who will speak in just a few moments, on

         13  behalf of ICARE sent a letter to Dr. Frieden and

         14  Assistant Commissioner Steven Schwartz replied, and

         15  a copy of that letter is also at the back of this

         16  packet.

         17                 However, a Birth Certificate is a

         18  necessary document for formerly incarcerated men and

         19  women seeking a non-driver's identification card

         20  upon their release from prison or jail - enrollment

         21  in health care and benefits programs and employment.

         22  An official Birth Certificate is a necessary

         23  document for all stages of the reentry process. The

         24  cost for Birth Certificates is $15. However, because

         25  people in prison are allocated only $40 upon
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          2  release, the cost is prohibitive.

          3                 Often individuals will seek

          4  assistance from New York City direct service

          5  providers which receive funding from the City of New

          6  York to assist formerly incarcerated persons. The

          7  length of time it takes a staff person to go to the

          8  Office of Vital Records with a client, as well as to

          9  pay the $15 cost of the Birth Certificates, results

         10  in the City of New York unnecessarily compensating

         11  for a process that can be eliminated with Intro.

         12  574. This bill and abolishing fees for official

         13  Birth Certificates, allows the time and resources of

         14  direct service staff and formerly incarcerated

         15  individuals, to be used more efficiently, while

         16  removing unnecessary barriers to reentry. Therefore

         17  we stand in strong support of Intro. 574.

         18                 The benefits of this bill far

         19  outweigh the cost. All of the 25,000 men and women

         20  leaving New York State prisons this year return to

         21  New York City, and of course not all of them do, we

         22  think that anywhere between 50 to 80 percent of

         23  people leaving State prisons come back to New York

         24  City. But if all 25,000 did come back, it would cost

         25  the City a mere $375,000. We think that
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          2  approximately 14 percent of the 100,000 people in

          3  Rikers Island at any given point in time are there

          4  for more than 90 days, which would mean 14,000

          5  people. But if they were to receive free Birth

          6  Certificates, it will cost the City $210,000. This

          7  is actually far less than the representative from

          8  the Department of Mental Health and Hygiene

          9  estimated. But the sum total of our projection, this

         10  is the maximum it will possibly cost the City is

         11  $585,000, and we assume that it will be far less

         12  than that.

         13                 This is a small amount in the face of

         14  enormous obstacles faced by reentering individuals,

         15  and the significant unnecessary expense of service

         16  provider resources, which are ultimately the

         17  expenses of the City of New York.

         18                 Thus, abolishing the fees for

         19  official Birth Certificates is a pragmatic step that

         20  would facilitate a better use of everyone's

         21  resources and time while facilitating a smoother

         22  reentry process.

         23                 As a coalition in support of

         24  individuals who are leaving State prisons and Rikers

         25  Island, we seek for each person to have all of the
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          2  necessary documents to apply for a non-driver State

          3  ID, gain employment and enroll in necessary

          4  programs, thereby enabling individuals to succeed

          5  after returning home. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you. I

          7  was just told by Counsel, due to the fact that we do

          8  have a long hearing, we're going to ask, since we

          9  have for the record this statement, your testimony,

         10  if you could sum up your testimony for the sake of

         11  time. And we're going to have to start enforcing the

         12  time limit.

         13                 So, next, please identify yourself

         14  and welcome.

         15                 MR. POLICANO: It's good to be here

         16  today. Thank you. My name is Chris Policano. I'm the

         17  Communications Director of Phoenix House. Good

         18  morning.

         19                 Phoenix House is one of the largest

         20  non-profit substance abuse treatment and prevention

         21  organizations in the country. We run more than 100

         22  programs in nine states, including New York,

         23  California, Texas and Florida.

         24                 Phoenix House has been helping

         25  substance abusers within the criminal justice system
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          2  since 1968, when we created the first Behind The

          3  Walls Treatment Program, which was on Rikers Island.

          4                 Since then Phoenix House has

          5  designed, initiated, operated, provided training for

          6  and evaluated both in-prison and post-prison

          7  treatment programs to men, women and teenagers

          8  throughout the United States.

          9                 Nearly 70 percent of the 2,500 men

         10  and women we treat every day in New York State have

         11  spent time in jail or prison. Our treatment programs

         12  are comprehensive and they are demanding. Not only

         13  do we help substance abusing criminal offenders move

         14  away from drug and alcohol abuse, we also help them

         15  catch up on the education they have lost, and

         16  provide access to the vocational training they need

         17  to take their place in the workforce.

         18                 The men and women who are in our

         19  programs strive each day to overcome the past and

         20  start new productive lives.

         21                 But not having the proper

         22  identification can be an impediment to receiving

         23  treatment, getting a job, receiving other benefits.

         24  Phoenix House strongly supports efforts that remove

         25  barriers to progress to the men and women who need
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          2  to put their incarceration behind them, and become

          3  productive citizens. So, on behalf of the

          4  organization, I ask the Council to work this out,

          5  and make this happen. Thank you very much. And it's

          6  a pleasure to be back.

          7                 MR. CAMPBELL: Good morning. My name

          8  is Barry Campbell, and I'm currently employed with

          9  the Fortune Society, and I feel kind of in a strange

         10  position because I am a former resident of Rikers

         11  Island, I am a former resident of the State

         12  facility, and now I'm actually employed with a

         13  service provider.

         14                 Fortunately, when I came home I

         15  didn't have to face that barrier, but what I am

         16  seeing now today is more and more individuals that

         17  are coming home to us without any identification,

         18  and the barrier for just their medical health and

         19  for their reintegration back into society is

         20  outstanding, and the fact that this is, you know, we

         21  can sit here and talk about dollars and cents, and

         22  you talk about ten percent of the budget, when

         23  you're talking about helping a human being get back

         24  into society, and you're talking about a human being

         25  that wants to change, because if somebody walks
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          2  through the doors of Phoenix House, Fortune Society,

          3  Osborne, WPA, ICARE, it means that they want to

          4  change the quality of their life. They want to

          5  change their lifestyle. And they come through the

          6  door and you tell them that you don't have in your

          7  budget to give them $15 for a Birth Certificate,

          8  that they can't get a Birth Certificate, so

          9  therefore they can't get medical benefits, they

         10  can't get employed, they can't get a driver's

         11  license. You're basically telling them, then you're

         12  not welcome back in society, and I don't believe

         13  that's what the legislation was set up to do. I

         14  believe that everybody deserves a second chance to

         15  reintegrate back into society, regardless to their

         16  background, regardless to their race, their color or

         17  their creed. And the sad point about it is that this

         18  is predominantly affecting the black and Latino

         19  population, and what it is saying is that we are not

         20  willing to allow you back into society, and I think

         21  it's the government's job, I think it's the City

         22  Council's job to do away with those barriers that

         23  are preventing these individuals from becoming

         24  productive members of society. You talk about

         25  dollars and cents, what about the tax revenue that
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          2  you're going to start collecting from these

          3  individuals once they become employed? There is a

          4  human side to this that needs to be addressed and

          5  it's not being addressed, and we're very upset when

          6  we sit up here and we talk about dollars and cents,

          7  when somebody's life is involved, somebody's

          8  well-being is involved in this, and we're not

          9  looking at it like that. Thank you for your time.

         10                 MR. KOOPERKAMP: Good morning. I'm

         11  Earl Kopperkamp from St. Mary's Episcopal Church in

         12  West Harlem, and I really thank you at this point to

         13  be able to be here to support Intro. 574.

         14                 It's under consideration, it's one of

         15  these nice opportunities to not only get to stand up

         16  and say this is the right thing to do, but this is

         17  also the smart thing to do as well. Removing

         18  barriers to employment, reintegration for formerly

         19  incarcerated persons, it truly is both right and

         20  smart.

         21                 St. Mary's is located in West Harlem,

         22  in Council Member Robert Jackson's district, and our

         23  neighborhood, though, is characterized as some of

         24  the highest rates of incarceration in New York

         25  State, thousands and thousands of men and women each
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          2  year return to our communities and to their families

          3  and they're ready for a fresh start, but there's

          4  often these barriers to their reintegration, and it

          5  makes it very frustrating for them, very depressing,

          6  and often times they get involved back in the same

          7  thing and end up right back where they were before.

          8                 And, so, I think most of us are

          9  probably aware in this room, currently about two out

         10  of every three released inmates is back in prison

         11  within three years, and now it is time to break that

         12  cycle.

         13                 Making Birth Certificates available

         14  to these newly released inmates, it's a small but a

         15  significant step in breaking that cycle, removing

         16  these barriers. With the proper forms of

         17  identification, former inmates can begin that search

         18  for employment, can begin becoming productive in

         19  their own lives, especially in the lives of our

         20  community. And, so, we need them in our community

         21  back working hard for their families for the

         22  community, and this is one step to make that happen.

         23                 Now, some people might say, why

         24  should these criminals get a break? You know,

         25  everybody else has got to pay for a Birth
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          2  Certificate. But just like you said, Council Member

          3  Martinez, I don't think it's a matter of giving them

          4  a break, I think it's a matter of making an

          5  investment in their new lives, in the lives that

          6  they can take up.

          7                 It's a small measure. To be sure,

          8  it's going to have a little bit of an effect on the

          9  City budget negatively, in terms of revenues that

         10  are not generated, but I think the municipal coffers

         11  would definitely benefit from formerly incarcerated

         12  persons getting out, becoming productive citizens,

         13  getting employment, much more so than the negative

         14  revenue affects, and that's where this investment

         15  can have a tremendous benefit in the lives of men

         16  and women, as my colleagues said here, and

         17  especially for the lives of the community as well.

         18                 If you'll allow me just a personal

         19  comment, for three years now I've taught at Sing

         20  Sing Prison under the auspices of Rising Hope, and

         21  the inmates in my class are the best students I have

         22  ever taught in my life. And for them to be denied a

         23  chance at employment, a chance at turning around

         24  their lives, a chance to contribute in the community

         25  for the simple lack of $15, I think is an absolute
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          2  tragedy. So, I really appreciate your having us here

          3  this morning, and appreciate your listening to our

          4  views in support of Intro. 574. Thank you so much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you. Have

          6  any of you witnessed the new program, or know of the

          7  new program where free Birth Certificates are being

          8  issued? It started a year ago?

          9                 MS. VESELY-FLAD: The RIDE Program. We

         10  have three other people who are going to testify on

         11  this bill, and one of them at least works for the

         12  RIDE Program, so in the next panel that will come

         13  up, you'll hear more about that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Reverend

         16  Kooperkamp, if these Birth Certificates are not for

         17  distribution, how were you able to get a copy at

         18  all? How was it Willie Thomas was able to get a copy

         19  of this Birth Certificate?

         20                 MS. VESELY-FLAD: I was the person to

         21  retrieve this birth certificate, a stamped one.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay.

         23                 MS. VESELY-FLAD: One of the things

         24  that does happen, and this is actually how we became

         25  aware of this problem, is that in some facilities

                                                            49

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  transitional services, and this is not a consistent

          3  practice, we don't know that this is widespread at

          4  all, but they will at some times put stamped Birth

          5  Certificates into the files, the release files of

          6  the people who are getting ready to reintegrate into

          7  society, and that's how we found out that this was

          8  happened, that all of the labor was already taking

          9  place, and, in fact, more labor was being put in,

         10  but then it wasn't meant to be useful to the

         11  individuals who were coming home.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         13                 MS. VESELY-FLAD: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: The next panel.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The next panel

         16  will be Heidi Van Es, from the Office of the

         17  Appellate Offender; Tamika Lisbon, from the Women's

         18  Prison Association; Barbara Sherman from ICARE

         19  Coalition. And was there anyone else that wanted to

         20  testify on Intro. 574? I don't see any other slips.

         21  You'll have to see the Sergeant-of-Arms.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Again, I would

         23  ask that since we have your testimony in for the

         24  record, that you summarize your testimony, and we're

         25  going to abide by the time clock.
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          2                 Please identify yourself, in whatever

          3  order you prefer.

          4                 MS. VAN ES: Hi. My name is Heidi Van

          5  Es. I am the Director of the Social Work Program at

          6  the Office of the Appellate Defender. Our office is

          7  a small non-profit law firm that is dedicated to

          8  providing high-quality representation of indigent

          9  individuals who are appealling their criminal cases.

         10  And our social work unit focuses on assisting

         11  individuals who are in the reentry process, who are

         12  returning home from New York State prisons. I

         13  personally, and our unit, has worked with hundreds

         14  of individuals who are coming home.

         15                 Our clients, and not surprisingly,

         16  are generally -- come home with very few resources

         17  and virtually no money. They frequently have

         18  histories of substance abuse and they may be

         19  homeless, they suffer from mental health and health

         20  conditions and have often suffered violent trauma.

         21  They frequently lack family support, as well as any

         22  kind of strong community ties upon which they can

         23  depend, and our clients are the very individuals who

         24  are the most dependent upon and in need of seemless

         25  community resources to successfully transmission
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          2  back into the community, and if an individual is

          3  released with $40 to negotiate survival in New York

          4  City, spending 15 of those dollars on a Birth

          5  Certificate is impractical and unreasonable. And

          6  I've personally worked with dozens of individuals

          7  who have been unable to afford a Birth Certificate

          8  when they come home.

          9                 What happens is that the clients are

         10  unable to access the resources that they need and

         11  the resources that are there for them. They're

         12  unable to access emergency food stamps, they're

         13  unable to access Medicaid to provide for any kind of

         14  medical coverage. They are unable to access Social

         15  Security, SSI, SSD, as well as any kind of public

         16  assistance.

         17                 Additionally, most social service

         18  providers require an individual, provide proof of

         19  their citizenship or to have Medicaid in place

         20  already, and as I have already said, if they don't

         21  have their Medicaid, if they don't have a birth

         22  certificate, they are unable to get their Medicaid.

         23                 Most of our clients want to come home

         24  and work. That's what they want to do. They want to

         25  come home and make money and support themselves.
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          2  However, if they are coming home and they do not

          3  have a Birth Certificate, and they don't have the

          4  money to get one, the only thing they're coming home

          5  with is a release inmate ID card. And obviously a

          6  lot of employment doors are not going to be opening

          7  with this form of identification.

          8                 And, so, what happens is they are

          9  kind of in this catch-22. Without money they're

         10  unable to purchase a Birth Certificate. Without a

         11  Birth Certificate they're unable to get a job to get

         12  money to purchase a Birth Certificate. So,

         13  therefore, they are oftentimes forced to get an

         14  off-the-job book or something else and they're

         15  unable to get legal employment. And ultimately our

         16  office will have to step in frequently to help an

         17  individual afford that birth certificate.

         18                 And our experience shows that the

         19  first month that a person is, after they've returned

         20  home, is the most high-risk time for that person,

         21  they're at their most vulnerbale. And our clients

         22  are squandering a lot of time trying to get their

         23  documents in order and this is time that they should

         24  already be receiving the services that they need and

         25  that are available, and these are the people that
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          2  are the most high-risk and they should be seemlessly

          3  integrating into these services and into the

          4  community as best as possible. So, we're strongly in

          5  support of this.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you.

          7                 MS. LISBON: Good morning. My name is

          8  Tamika Lisbon. I work for the Rikers Island

          9  Discharge Planning Enhancement Program for Women's

         10  Prison Association. First and foremost, good

         11  morning, ladies and gentlemen. Thank you for

         12  allowing me the opportunity to testify before you

         13  today on this very important issue of free Birth

         14  Certificates for people leaving prison or jail.

         15                 Once again, my name is Tamika Lisbon.

         16  I'm a RIDE Transitional Planner at the Women's

         17  Prison Association, also known as WPA.

         18                 For over 160 years, WPA has worked

         19  with women at all stages of involvement in the

         20  Criminal Justice System. In my job, I help the women

         21  leaving Rikers Island to transition back into the

         22  community.

         23                 Women come to WPA with many needs,

         24  including housing, entitlements, employment and

         25  family reunification. The women cannot obtain any of
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          2  these things without a valid Birth Certificate.

          3  Women need a Birth Certificate to get a State ID

          4  from the Department of Motor Vehicles. Without a

          5  valid ID, you can't get shelter, a job, or even

          6  legally walk down the street. As a result, I spend a

          7  significant amount of time escorting women to Vital

          8  Records to obtain a Birth Certificate. WPA pays the

          9  fee because the woman cannot afford to pay.

         10                 This is valuable time that the woman

         11  could be using working on other goals, such as

         12  sobriety or getting housing. Things that really

         13  influence whether or not she returns to prison or

         14  jail.

         15                 When I first started working at WPA

         16  almost three years ago, the Department of Correction

         17  was not providing free Birth Certificates to people

         18  leaving Rikers Island. Now, having recognized how

         19  important Birth Certificates are for the reentry

         20  process, DOC makes them available, however, the

         21  Birth Certificates that women get have a stamp on

         22  them that reads "Government File Copy. Not For

         23  Personal Use." This means that when a woman tries to

         24  present the certificate to DMV to get ID for

         25  employment purposes, they are denied benefits from
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          2  HRA, SSA, or Department of Motor Vehicles because of

          3  the stamp.

          4                 In any event, Birth Certificates are

          5  just one more obstacle for the women who are trying

          6  to make a positive change in their lives after

          7  prison or jail. I have seen this barrier make a

          8  woman feel stigmatized and defeated. This

          9  legislation would remove a real barrier to

         10  successful reentry, and an investment and a smoother

         11  reentry is an investment in a safer community and

         12  healthier families.

         13                 Thank you for your attention to this

         14  very important issue, and thank you for allowing me

         15  the opportunity to testify before you today.

         16                 MS. SHERMAN: Good morning, Chairman

         17  and Committee members. I am Barbara Sherman. I'm a

         18  licensed social worker from New York City. It is

         19  imperative that inmates who are released from State

         20  prison or at Rikers Island for more than 90 days be

         21  provided free Birth Certificates. In this day and

         22  age of documentation in the United States, lack of

         23  such a document becomes a handicap for anyone, but a

         24  barrier to reentry into the community for a formerly

         25  incarcerated person.
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          2                 A Birth Certificate is a practical

          3  pathway to obtain services, whether services are

          4  medical, employment, Social Security or symbolic,

          5  indicating the essence of life that one has been

          6  birthed and is in the world. Without a Birth

          7  Certificate, it is as if one does not exist in our

          8  society.

          9                 I support bill no. 564 to enable

         10  people who have been incarcerated the opportunity to

         11  reenter into the community to begin to regain their

         12  lives starting with an important piece of

         13  documentation, their Birth Certificate.

         14                 Please vote for this bill so that we

         15  can move forward in the 21st century to changing our

         16  perception of inmates to that of human beings who

         17  try to reenter society, obtain employment and get on

         18  with their lives but find barriers to this end.

         19                 Let's move our society from the

         20  concept of most restrictive, this concept of most

         21  restrictive, to easing the transition for people who

         22  have been formerly incarcerated, so that they are

         23  able to restart their lives today.

         24                 This is not a huge request, but an

         25  adjustment to policy, which can change the direction
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          2  of lives of many people. It will provide people with

          3  a chance to obtain employment, housing, treatment

          4  programs and other services which now present

          5  barriers to obtain these necessary services due to

          6  lack of identification, the Birth Certificate, a

          7  significant document.

          8                 I would further entertain that if

          9  anyone is uncomfortable with this change, to start

         10  the process as a small project with phase-in

         11  development, but let's just get started doing

         12  something meaningful for others who need our

         13  support.

         14                 I thank you for the opportunity to

         15  speak to you on behalf of people who are unable to

         16  speak for themselves in this humanitarian effort.

         17  Thank you.

         18                 MS. SEWARD: Good afternoon. My name

         19  is Vonda Seward, the Executive Director of the

         20  ComALERT Program. Today I would like to talk to you

         21  about the ComALERT Program, which stands for

         22  community and law enforcement resources together,

         23  and how a strategy of collective integration among

         24  our agencies can have a beneficial impact upon our

         25  program. First of all, let me say that the ComALERT
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          2  program is a law enforcement program ran by the

          3  Kings County District Attorney's Office, and I know

          4  most people wonder, just like the gentleman in the

          5  front wanted to make sure I was here for the right

          6  thing, I am. We run a reentry program that was

          7  founded by Charles J. Hynes himself.

          8                 One of the things that I want to

          9  focus on is that, although most people know the DA's

         10  office is nothing but attorneys, I'm not an

         11  attorney. I am a social worker. My staff is social

         12  workers, so we have pretty good insight on what's

         13  going on with this whole reentry population.

         14                 The ComALERT staff and our service

         15  providers partners represent a vast array of

         16  experience in both administrative and direct reentry

         17  services. They are exceptionally well qualified in

         18  identifying certain administrative and procedural

         19  service barriers that once removed will enhance the

         20  programmatic success we have thus far enjoyed. The

         21  removal of these barriers will then allow our

         22  counselors to more fully address the needs of our

         23  recently released consumers who sincerely wish to

         24  make a positive difference in their lives. The

         25  immediate access to certify copies of one's Birth
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          2  Certificate, we have learned, is a piece of

          3  documentation that becomes absolutely essential once

          4  a person is released from incarceration and attempts

          5  to successfully transition back into the community.

          6                 The Birth Certificate plays a vital

          7  role and becomes the gateway for the parolee's quick

          8  access to legitimate employment, job training

          9  programs, education, substance abuse treatment

         10  program, health entitlement, including managed care

         11  to facilitate process of State identification cards.

         12  The reality we face, however, is the fact that the

         13  average person returning from prison arrives to the

         14  community with extremely limited resources, if any.

         15  Furthermore, also a fact that most grant-funded

         16  programs, including ComALERT do not have funds

         17  allocated in their budget for such payment or fees.

         18                 The effectiveness of ComALERT

         19  wrap-around service strategy also requires a clear

         20  understanding of the needs and effects of families

         21  in the reentry process. The submission of a birth

         22  certificate, in addition to State identification, is

         23  almost always the first significant step a

         24  transitioning person takes to qualify. I just would

         25  like to say that the ComALERT program of the Kings
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          2  County District Attorney's Office supports the Birth

          3  Certificate Intro. 574 and we really think that if

          4  you're trying to keep streets safe and you're trying

          5  to keep the community safe, that you should pass

          6  this bill. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you for

          8  your testimony.

          9                 Again, anyone, the women prison, or

         10  your organization in Queens, do you know any

         11  knowledge of the new program where free Birth

         12  Certificates are being issued? Any of your clients?

         13                 MS. LISBON: Upon release our

         14  organization in the community issues free

         15  certificates for the women.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Your

         17  organization?

         18                 MS. LISBON: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I'm speaking

         20  about the Department.

         21                 MS. LISBON: And the Department,

         22  Rikers Island, they issue free certificates as well.

         23  However, they have the stamp.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: They're

         25  stamped.
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          2                 MS. LISBON: And they're useless.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: According to

          4  the Commissioner, they're not doing that any more.

          5                 MS. VAN ES: They're certainly doing

          6  it at some New York State prisons.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I can't hear.

          8                 MS. VAN ES: At some New York State

          9  prisons they're certainly handing these out.

         10                 MS. SEWARD: And the stamped

         11  certificates are also going on in the State

         12  facility, as well as the City facilities. And even

         13  if there is a program that is doing free Birth

         14  Certificates, if you think about the amount of

         15  people being released into the community, unless

         16  that's a super program, they cannot handle the

         17  amount of people that need Birth Certificates

         18  overall.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Where do the

         20  women prisons get the resources to pay for it? From

         21  whom? City grant, State grant, non-profit -- private

         22  grants?

         23                 MS. LISBON: The RIDE Program is

         24  funded by City Council, so that's where we get our

         25  funds from.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: So, in essence,

          3  you're already doing it, Council Member Palma?

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 Any questions, Council Member Palma?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: I wanted to

          7  ask, the ComALERT Program is just based in Kings

          8  County? Do all the boroughs have a similar program?

          9                 MS. SEWARD: ComALERT is stationed

         10  primarily in Kings County. Charles Hynes is working

         11  vigorously to get other counties to have similar

         12  programs as ComALERT, but as far as if there is any,

         13  exactly like ComALERT, I'm not at liberty to answer

         14  because I really don't know.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: And for the

         16  ComALERT budget, it comes out of the DA's office,

         17  or, like, where do the funds come from?

         18                 MS. SEWARD: Our funds come from DCJS.

         19  We are a grant-funded program. That's why I say we

         20  function like a CBO, but we're still a law

         21  enforcement agency.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay, thank

         23  you.

         24                 MS. SEWARD: You're welcome.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you.
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          2                 At this point we're closing the

          3  hearing on Intro. 574, and we will commence the

          4  oversight hearing on the proposed changes to the

          5  Minimum Standards.

          6                 The Committee had hoped that we would

          7  hear from Hilde Simmons, Chair of the New York City

          8  Board of Correction, and Martin Horn, Commissioner

          9  of the New York City Department of Correction. We

         10  invited them both to testify with the hope that the

         11  Committee would receive greater details regarding

         12  these proposals, as well as information on how the

         13  proposal were formulated and how the Department of

         14  Correction intends to implement.

         15                 However, sadly, Chair Simmons and

         16  Commissioner Horn will not be testifying today. I

         17  leave it to them to give their reason for not

         18  attending. I believe that the Chair and the

         19  Commissioner would have easily found some ways to

         20  appear here without violating any administrative

         21  procedures, if they wanted to have a public

         22  discussion of these proposals, but apparently they

         23  do not.

         24                 Unfortunately, unless we collectively

         25  force the Board and the Department of Correction to

                                                            64

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  respond, we may never know how the Department of

          3  Correction intends to safeguard privileged

          4  communications, how long the Department of

          5  Correction intends to keep record phone calls, and

          6  how they intend to allow to listen to them.

          7                 We may never know why the Board wants

          8  to vote on a requirement mandating detainees wearing

          9  the same uniform as sentenced prisoners before they

         10  have a system in place to clean those uniforms and

         11  store and clean personal clothing of the inmate.

         12                 We may never know how the Department

         13  of Correction intends to meet its obligation to

         14  translate for Spanish-speaking inmates once they are

         15  no longer required to have the employees capable of

         16  doing so. We may never know if the Department of

         17  Correction intends to allow a prisoner in closed

         18  custody to have their cells for more than an hour a

         19  day, or why the Department of Correction does not

         20  intend to add a Correction Officer to guard inmates

         21  in smaller, more crowded dormitories, even though

         22  they were required to do so under the limited

         23  variance they were granted for a pilot program.

         24                 I also want to address the issue of

         25  the translation.
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          2                 Having attended one of the Board

          3  meetings, the Chair of the Board stated that it's

          4  not eliminating translation services but more having

          5  translation available to a broader-- broader

          6  inmates. However, under the current policy, it is

          7  required that the Department hire those individuals

          8  that are going to do the translation, with the new

          9  proposal, there is no mandate that the Department

         10  hire those in-house translators. I want to be clear

         11  about that, that it is not a concern whether the

         12  translation for Spanish speaking, Chinese, Russian

         13  or whomever, but rather the requirement that the

         14  Department hire those translators and they're made

         15  available is the difference of what they're

         16  proposing.

         17                 At this time we're going to call the

         18  first panel to testify on our oversight issue. And

         19  we've been joined by Council Member Eric Gioia from

         20  Queens.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The first panel

         22  is John Brickman, former Executive Director of the

         23  Board of Correction, David Lenefsky, Michael

         24  Mushlin, Law Professor, Alex Jonatowski, from the

         25  Association of the Bar of the City of New York.
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          2                 Please identify yourself for the

          3  record, and then you can proceed.

          4                 MR. BRICKMAN: Thank you. Good

          5  morning, Mr. Chairman, and members of the Committee.

          6  I am John Brickman, and I serve as the Chairman of

          7  the Board of Directors of the Correctional

          8  Association of New York, and I am pleased to offer

          9  our views on the proposed changes to the Board's

         10  minimum standards.

         11                 I have given the Sergeant-At-Arms

         12  copies of testimony I delivered at the Board of

         13  Correction hearing on April 19, much more expansive

         14  than today's format permits, but I'd like to make

         15  some of the same points.

         16                 I also have another voice, and it's

         17  one that I hope gives particular resonance to my

         18  statement today, because as was noted from 1971

         19  until 1975, I did serve as the First Executive

         20  Director of the Board. That appointment followed the

         21  revitalization of the Board and the aftermath of the

         22  disturbances that had paralyzed the City jails and

         23  it was the beginning of the Board's function as an

         24  independent monitor, opening the jails to outside

         25  scrutiny in the hope of staving off further
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          2  disorder.

          3                 And this was in the era before the

          4  City Charter gave the Board the right to set Minimum

          5  Standards for the Department, and as a consequence

          6  of what the Board and the staff observed and our

          7  conclusion that the Board's historic monitoring role

          8  needed teeth, we conceived the proposal to amend the

          9  City Charter to empower the Board to set minimum

         10  standards. And in the buzz words of today, we looked

         11  to go beyond transparency to assure accountability.

         12                 And in that regard, in particular,

         13  Mr. Chairman, I share your disappointment that the

         14  Chairman of the Board and the Department of

         15  Correction did not accept your invitation to appear

         16  because I believe that they have a public

         17  responsibility to justify what in large measure they

         18  have seemingly sought to do without significant

         19  public input, and for that reason as well, those of

         20  us who have taken exception to that process

         21  particularly welcome this hearing and this

         22  Committee's interest and involvement.

         23                 Now, in two centuries of prison work

         24  at the Correctional Association, we've been around

         25  literally since 1844, we believe we have learned a
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          2  key lesson. There is an inevitable tension between

          3  prison administrators and those charged with

          4  civilian oversight, but that tension is both

          5  necessary, and in our view, healthy. Indeed, it is

          6  no less than vital.

          7                 Without independence, without plenty

          8  of daylight, the Board of Correction simply doesn't

          9  do its job, and with great regret, I believe that

         10  the Board's proposal to revise the Minimum Standards

         11  do reflect its loss of independence and accordingly

         12  its failure to fulfill the purpose for which it was

         13  created some 50 years ago, and its failure to follow

         14  the example created by the Board during the years in

         15  which it had its most sustained impact on the

         16  Department of Correction.

         17                 Now it gives the appearance of a

         18  behind the scenes partnership of the Department of

         19  Correction, not necessarily a bad thing, but a bad

         20  thing when it's done to the exclusion of other

         21  stakeholders, and in that process the Board seems to

         22  depart both in appearance and in fact from the

         23  principle requiring distance.

         24                 Let me close with this thought. More

         25  than 35 years ago, the Board of Correction remarked
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          2  on the relevance to prisons and jails of von

          3  Heisenberg's uncertainty principle. That's the rule

          4  of physics that says that certain atomic reactions

          5  happen differently simply because someone is

          6  observing them. And it seems to me that there is no

          7  area of government to which von Heisenberg's rule

          8  applies more importantly than the closed and hidden

          9  world of our jails and prisons.

         10                 Thirty years ago we gave the Board

         11  the power to go beyond the observer's role and to

         12  compel the system to do the right thing. I hope very

         13  much that this Committee and the Council will stand

         14  strong and stop the Board from rolling back three

         15  decades of progress, squandering that opportunity.

         16  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members.

         17                 MR. LENEFSKY: May I? Good afternoon.

         18  My name is David Lenefsky. I practice law in New

         19  York City, and I am a former Board member, having

         20  served during the administrations of Mayor Koch,

         21  Mayor Dinkins and Mayor Giuliani.

         22                 I would like to first note that our

         23  new administration in Albany, the State government,

         24  is taking a very progressive attitude towards

         25  correctional issues. Within the first few months of
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          2  taking office, they have settled two important

          3  lawsuits to the benefit of inmates, the telephone

          4  rate case and the access to mental services case.

          5                 So, it is particularly disturbing for

          6  me to see that at the same time our City government

          7  is taking the exact opposite approach, a regressive

          8  approach to correctional issues.

          9                 I have reviewed these proposed

         10  changes. They do not merit the phrase minimum

         11  standards. These proposed changes are mistaken, they

         12  are false standards, they are in fact lawless

         13  standards. I'd like to limit my comments to just

         14  three of the issues that you, Mr. Chairman, raised.

         15  The first is the reduction in required space in the

         16  dormitory units. There is unquestionably a causal

         17  connection between volume and violence in jails.

         18  There is a direct causal connection between crowding

         19  and violence, and if you adopt the new standard for

         20  the dormitory use, there is little question in my

         21  mind that you increase the prospects for violence,

         22  and any short term monetary gain that the Department

         23  will save by this new standard will be shortly

         24  reduced and overturned and offset by the sooner

         25  rather than later increased violence and the
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          2  attendant cost of medical services, injured inmates

          3  and injured correctional officers and to repair the

          4  physical plant that is involved.

          5                 Secondly, this new standard of close

          6  custody which takes an individual who needs help,

          7  who needs protection but who has done absolutely no

          8  wrong and place him or her in a lock-in situation

          9  for 23 hours a day, mimics Quantanomo Bay. Why a

         10  City which is devoted to principles of liberalism

         11  and tolerance would want to mirror such a Medieval

         12  practice, I fail to understand that at all.

         13                 The third proposed change is one that

         14  would have warrantless eavesdropping on telephone

         15  calls, among other things. That, to me, mimics the

         16  Alberto/Gonazalez Department of Justice.

         17                 The fact of the matter is, Minimum

         18  Standards have worked and they do work. I was

         19  appointed to the Board of Correction the year the

         20  Minimum Standards came into effect. I heard the

         21  horror story that was just told to you by my

         22  colleague on the right, the Tombs riots. Minimum

         23  Standards have worked. What is needed now is for an

         24  implementation of your last paragraph in the letter

         25  that you wrote, Mr. Chairman, to the Chairlady and
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          2  to the Board members, stop the process in place and

          3  to start anew.

          4                 A final word. While I very much

          5  oppose what my colleagues on the Board are doing

          6  today, I equally support the work of its staff. And

          7  this Council and this City government could spend

          8  money very wisely by increasing that staff. When I

          9  first went to the Board in 1978, it had a staff

         10  twice as large as it has today. It needs your help.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 MR. JONATOWSKI: Greetings. My name is

         13  Alex Jonatwoski. I'm here testifying on behalf of

         14  the New York City Bar Association where I'm a member

         15  of the City Bar's Correction Committee, as well as a

         16  staff attorney at the City Bar Justice Center, where

         17  I focus on prisoner reentry issues. The Association

         18  welcomes this opportunity to testify about the

         19  proposed versions to the Board's Minimum Standards

         20  for the New York City Correctional Facilities.

         21                 The Association is a private

         22  non-profit organization, more than 22,000 attorneys,

         23  judges and law professors, and it's one of the

         24  oldest Bar Associations in the United States, and

         25  over the years we have promoted reform in the law
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          2  and improvements in the administration of justice

          3  through our more than 160 committees. We also seek

          4  to promote fair and humane treatment of incarcerated

          5  individuals through the contributions of these

          6  committees.

          7                 Many other groups that are testifying

          8  today are testifying in opposition to specific

          9  aspects of the revisions to the Minimum Standards.

         10  The Association shares many of their concerns,

         11  particularly with respect to the proposed revisions

         12  that would alter standards on overcrowding, lock-in,

         13  telephone calls and correspondence, personal hygiene

         14  and access to interpreters, as well as access to

         15  courts and legal services.

         16                 On April 17th, the Association

         17  offered comments to the Board at the public meeting.

         18  We urge the Board on that date to reject nearly all

         19  the proposed revisions. We will very shortly be

         20  submitting written comments to the Board, detailing

         21  our substantive and specific objections to the

         22  proposals in the revisions, which we'll be more than

         23  happy to share with this Committee when they're

         24  released.

         25                 Our testimony today therefore will

                                                            74

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  address solely the process by which the proposed

          3  revisions were created and their overall affect.

          4                 The Association is very disappointed

          5  by the process the Board utilized to create the

          6  proposed revisions. The process reflects a

          7  standard-setting methodology that's contrary to the

          8  concept of open government. The Board didn't seek or

          9  obtain the consensus necessary to promote any kind

         10  of equitable standards. The opportunity for public

         11  comment coming two years after the changes were

         12  first considered and well after they were drafted in

         13  the present detail isn't adequate to make this the

         14  open deliberative process that good government

         15  requires.

         16                 We actually welcome the Board's

         17  decision to extend the comment period in its

         18  agreement not to vote on the standards until the

         19  fall. However, these changes don't alter the fact

         20  that the proposed revisions were drafted outside of

         21  the public view, and without any contribution from

         22  persons or groups who would be the most affected by

         23  these changes.

         24                 The Board meets on a monthly basis.

         25  It's meetings are open to the general public. The
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          2  fact the Board was considering whether to revise the

          3  existing standards was raised on several occasions

          4  at several meetings over the past two years.

          5  However, the actual substance of the proposed

          6  changes was never discussed, debated or revealed to

          7  anyone outside of the Department of Correction,

          8  despite requests by various organizations and the

          9  community stakeholders.

         10                 There was therefore no opportunity

         11  for any kind of input from persons affected by or

         12  working within the correctional system and no

         13  attempt was ever made to seek any kind of such

         14  input.

         15                 Since they weren't drafted based on

         16  any kind of outside input or any kind of consensus

         17  process, the proposed revisions are not, in our

         18  opinion, comprehensive and they lack balance.

         19                 The public comment period that's now

         20  been offered isn't adequate to transform this

         21  process into an open or fair standard-setting

         22  process. It appears that there will still be no

         23  opportunity for a meaningful dialogue between the

         24  Board and any interested parties about the need for

         25  revisions or any appropriate balance between
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          2  security concerns and the rights of inmates. But

          3  such a dialogue is necessary and fundamental.

          4                 Therefore, it's the Association's

          5  view that proper Minimum Standards should represent

          6  neither a ceiling nor a floor and must be developed

          7  by means of a collaborative process and confirmed on

          8  a foundation of common agreement.

          9                 Therefore, we urge the Board, and we

         10  hope this Committee will urge the Board, to withdraw

         11  the current draft of proposed revisions and to begin

         12  the process entirely anew. At that point, we would

         13  look forward to working with the Board and any other

         14  concerned organizations to collaboratively consider

         15  possible revisions to the minimum standards. Thank

         16  you.

         17                 MR. MUSLIN: Good morning, Mr.

         18  Chairman, and members of the Committee. Thank you

         19  for the opportunity to appear today. My name is

         20  Michael Mushlin. I'm a law professor at Pace Law

         21  School. I've been involved with prison reform for a

         22  lot of years. I'm the author of a book on The Rights

         23  of Prisoners which is a three-volume book. I am a

         24  member of the ABA's Task Force, National Task Force

         25  on the Legal Status of Prisoners. I was the Chair of
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          2  the Board -- not of the Board of Correction, but of

          3  the Correctional Association of the State of New

          4  York, I'm a Board member of it, and I chair the

          5  Committee on Corrections of the Association of the

          6  Bar of the City of New York. And at the time the

          7  Minimum Standards were drafted, when Mr. Lenefsky

          8  was on the Board, I was the Project Director of the

          9  Prisoner's Rights Project of the Legal Aid Society.

         10                 What I'd like to do today in the

         11  brief time I have is give you just -- my point is

         12  that I think this is a matter of national

         13  significance, what's going on here today. And I want

         14  to explain why I say that, that in the United States

         15  of America there is very little oversight of

         16  prisons. Prisons, what Justice Brennan called a

         17  "shadow world," they're dark places where people

         18  don't go. New York has been historically unique. New

         19  York is a national leader in Human Rights. This is a

         20  City that has historically distinguished itself by a

         21  concern for civil liberties and human rights. And in

         22  the area of prison oversight New York has been a

         23  leader.

         24                 Since 1957 New York has had a Board

         25  of Correction, and 1978 it made a significant
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          2  contribution with the Minimum Standards that you're

          3  considering now.

          4                 Now, in the last few years there's

          5  been a national effort to install oversight in

          6  America's prisons. And let me just point out four

          7  different indications of this: the National

          8  Commission on the Study of Safety and Abuse in

          9  American Prisons issued a very important report

         10  called"Confronting Confinement" last year where it

         11  called for prison oversight. The Task Force on the

         12  Legal Status of Prisoners, of which I am a member,

         13  are now proposing, and there is going to be a

         14  meeting in Seattle in August, Minimum Standards for

         15  the ABA, which is going to have a provision for

         16  oversight of prisons. The ABA has also set up its

         17  own committee on oversight of prisons. And the

         18  fourth indication of it is that I was involved in a

         19  national conference which took place, was sponsored

         20  by Pace Law School and the University of Texas, and

         21  took place last April in Austin Texas, and that

         22  conference was called opening a closed world, what

         23  constitutes effective prison oversight.

         24                 The conference drew experts from

         25  around the country, from 22 states, from five
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          2  foreign countries. It was a diverse group, and what

          3  is significant is commissioners of correction that

          4  had responsibility for 20 percent of America's 2

          5  million prisons took the time to personally attend

          6  that conference.

          7                 In fact, the Texas House of

          8  Representatives passed a resolution, I think I may

          9  be the only person in this room that's held

         10  officially in high regard by the Texas House of

         11  Representatives for the conference.

         12                 Now, at the conference, many speakers

         13  held up New York as a model for prison oversight in

         14  this country, in particular the New York City Board

         15  of Correction was used as an example of what can

         16  realistically be accomplished in this field.

         17                 Richard Wolf, who is an excellent and

         18  distinguished Executive Director of the New York

         19  City Board of Correction, was invited to attend the

         20  conference and he wrote a paper for the conference

         21  and gave a talk. And his paper was called

         22  "Reflections on a Government Model of Correctional

         23  Oversight."

         24                 In that talk, Mr. Wolf, who is the

         25  Executive Director of the New York City Board of
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          2  Correction, described the important work of the

          3  Board of Correction, and stressed, what he stressed

          4  was the significance of independence to the

          5  effectiveness of its work. And Mr. Wolf elaborated

          6  on that concept, and I just want to read you what he

          7  said. It's just a couple of words. He said that what

          8  is critically important is an arm's length

          9  relationship between an oversight body and the

         10  Department of Corrections that it's there to

         11  oversee.

         12                 Now, I can tell you that Mr. Wolf's

         13  testimony made a powerful impression on persons who

         14  attended the conference. His talk and his paper made

         15  clear that the sine qua non of effective oversight

         16  is independence, and without it, you can't have

         17  effective oversight, and you can't do that when the

         18  agency that is attempting to do oversight is a

         19  captive of the very agency that it's supposed to

         20  monitor.

         21                 Now, that doesn't mean they shouldn't

         22  talk to the Department of Corrections, but it does

         23  mean that when it's here. The Board of Correction

         24  embarks on the first comprehensive review of its

         25  Minimum Standards at nearly 30 years, and only meets
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          2  with the very Department that it is obligated to

          3  oversee, that that mocks the very idea of

          4  independence upon which its depends for its

          5  effectiveness. Indeed, by not consulting with

          6  knowledgeable, incredible and committed people, and

          7  in those other panels you saw that this City is

          8  blessed with committed people who care about

          9  inmates, by not doing that the Board squandered its

         10  independence, that its Executive Director in Austin

         11  described is so essential to its success.

         12                 Now, this is contrary also to best

         13  practices in how administrative bodies work.

         14  Chairman Martinez in your letter, you pointed out

         15  how the Fire Department and the Building Department

         16  consults and that's consistent with the federal

         17  government. President Clinton issued an Executive

         18  Order that it cite in my testimony that requires

         19  advance consultation, the kind of thing that didn't

         20  happen here. The national significance of this, is

         21  that what happens in New York does not go unnoticed.

         22                 I've heard from people around the

         23  country who are watching what's been happening in

         24  New York and who have told me they are aware of the

         25  struggle now underway to persuade the Board to
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          2  reverse its course of action and that they are

          3  disheartened by what they've seen so far.

          4                 Let me just give you one example. I

          5  received an e-mail yesterday from an internationally

          6  recognized leader in the field, Dr. Andrew Coyle,

          7  who was a warden in Great Britain, who is the head

          8  of Prison Reform International, is an

          9  internationally known leader. He wrote me, and he

         10  knows that this hearing is taking place, he wrote me

         11  to say this when I had explained what had happened

         12  with the Board of Correction, he said:  "This is

         13  very disappointing news..." I'm quoting from Dr.

         14  Coyle, "This is very disappointing news,

         15  particularly in view of the positive words we heard

         16  in Austin about what was going on in New York City."

         17                 Thus, the actions of the Board of

         18  Correction threaten not only the welfare of the

         19  citizens of New York, which is obviously the most

         20  important thing, but I want you to understand that

         21  they also jeopardize the standing of the City of New

         22  York among persons who look to the City, and people

         23  do look to the City for guidance in the field of

         24  human rights.

         25                 For these reasons I think that what
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          2  you've done by calling this hearing is an important

          3  step, because you've given attention to this

          4  important issue that so many people overlook.

          5                 I hope that in addition to this

          6  hearing, I hope you will urge the Board to rescind

          7  its proposed standards and remit this matter to

          8  informal consultation with all relevant parties. By

          9  doing so, you would help to return the Board of

         10  Correction to its rightful and crucial role of being

         11  an independent monitor of the New York City

         12  Correction System, and a model for the nation. Thank

         13  you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         15                 Mr. Lenefsky, I want to ask you a

         16  question, or Mr. Brickman. Would it be considered a

         17  violation, for example, Mr. Brickman makes reference

         18  that before the City Charter gave the Board the

         19  right to set Minimum Standards for the Department of

         20  Correction, in terms of the Charter, is it a

         21  violation of the Charter of the City of New York, to

         22  your understanding, and we're researching this also,

         23  is it a violation of the Charter of the City of New

         24  York for the Board of Correction, in this case the

         25  Chairman of the Board -- well, they're the one that
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          2  set the standards, the Chairman of the Board, to

          3  speak to the Council on proposals being made, before

          4  the Board takes an actual decision?

          5                 MR. BRICKMAN: With the disclaimer

          6  that although I practice law I don't profess to be

          7  an expert in the intricacies of municipal

          8  regulation, I would think that it would be at the

          9  very least a violation of common sense for the Chair

         10  not to speak to the appropriate members of the

         11  Council, those such as the members of this Committee

         12  who have the particular interest and expertise in

         13  public safety, criminal justice, in corrections.

         14  That's the whole point. The Board of Correction is

         15  in effect the only element of the community that has

         16  the right to walk into the jail and then walk out

         17  again. And as a consequence of that status, it seems

         18  to me it's the Board's obligation, its burden, if

         19  you will, precisely to reach out to those interested

         20  members of the community, whether they are community

         21  groups, ex-offender groups, advocacy groups, or

         22  elected officials, or to seek the views and the

         23  advice and the judgment of interested people such as

         24  that.

         25                 MR. LENEFSKY: When one becomes a
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          2  member of the Board, no less Chairperson, one does

          3  not give up First Amendment Constitutional Rights.

          4  You have a right to speak and a right to appear

          5  before the City Council.

          6                 When I was a member of the Board, I

          7  always tried to work in cooperation with the

          8  Department of Correction. But from time to time, I

          9  realized that the Department wasn't smart enough to

         10  know what was in its best interest, and that was the

         11  time in which you as a Board member, and as a Board,

         12  with help and guidance from a very capable staff,

         13  has to set the limits and say no to the Department.

         14  These proposed changes is such an example. The

         15  Department isn't smart enough to know what's in its

         16  own self-interest. It's going to do more damage to

         17  itself than it will receive benefit from these

         18  changes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Council Member

         20  James, you have a question?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chairman. And Mr. Chairman, I have to apologize, I

         23  have to leave. I'm doing an event back in the

         24  district and I'm going to have to leave, and I

         25  really wanted to engage in an extensive conversation
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          2  with these very astute and intellectual gentlemen

          3  before me, and I agree that these standards are a

          4  shock, and it's unfortunate that they are moving

          5  forward and that we need to remit them and rescind

          6  them.

          7                 Often times the individuals in prison

          8  are out of sight and out of mind, and thus out of

          9  order. It is a shadow world, or a world behind

         10  walls, dark shadows behind a wall with -- a world

         11  with little or no oversight, civil or human rights

         12  are often times suspended, and where people tend not

         13  to care about them. And most of the people behind

         14  the wall are people who look like me, black and

         15  Latinos, and these proposed standards will

         16  jeopardize those individuals and the people who work

         17  there.

         18                 The proposal to increase, to limit

         19  personal space will endanger the lives of people who

         20  work there, inmates, the cells in the jails will be

         21  much more dangerous, phone calls and mail and being

         22  monitored and detainees with -- I really don't

         23  understand it. And your testimony, the testimony of

         24  one of the gentlemen is absolutely correct. Often

         25  times we're looked to, we're supposed to be a model
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          2  for civil human rights and I just don't understand

          3  this, and I don't understand the fact that they

          4  would compromise the independence of this Board

          5  and/or compromise the independence of this Board.

          6                 And, so, my question to you is, can

          7  the Governor of the State of New York override these

          8  proposed changes and/or set Minimum Standards?

          9                 MR. MUSHLIN: I don't see any legal

         10  impediment to the Governor of the State of New York

         11  for setting standards.

         12                 In fact, there is a State Commission

         13  on Local Jails that does have that jurisdiction, as

         14  I understand it. I certainly don't think there would

         15  be any impediment to it.

         16                 I think it's terrific that you have

         17  the oversight responsibilities, and I really

         18  appreciate what you had to say, and I think that you

         19  have a significant role to play and that hopefully

         20  it won't come to that. Hopefully New York City will

         21  itself be an example that we've been holding out to

         22  the country and that that will continue and that

         23  this will be a brief unfortunate episode.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Let me just say

         25  that I do not serve on this Committee, and I just
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          2  want to thank the Chairman for allowing me to say a

          3  few words and ask a few questions. But I do believe

          4  that I will be raising my voice to the Speaker, as

          5  well as to the Chair, to suggest that we subpoena

          6  those in charge and that they appear before us, and

          7  that we use our oversight authority to convince the

          8  Board to remit and/or rescind these proposed

          9  standards.

         10                 MR. LENEFSKY: If I remember

         11  correctly, sir, this Council appoints three members

         12  of the Board. I would urge you to consult with those

         13  three members presently on the Board about these

         14  proposed changes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I will further

         16  ask some questions with regards to these proposed

         17  standards.

         18                 The rationale for the alleged

         19  non-discriminatory treatment of inmates where they

         20  basically want to increase, they claim, the

         21  flexibility in assigning uniformed staff. The

         22  rationale that they use is that they can meet the

         23  goal of universal communication through other means;

         24  what other means could they be possibly talking

         25  about? Any idea on communicating with
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          2  Spanish-speaking and non-English inmates? Any ideas

          3  on that rationale? You have any ideas how they can

          4  possibly justify that stupid rationale?

          5                 MR. BRICKMAN: We've asked ourselves

          6  very similar questions, Ms. James.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Let me ask you

          8  another rationale. The rationale of changing the

          9  classification of prisoners. They basically say that

         10  it's consistent with the change in State law where

         11  they want to change the classification. Any opinion,

         12  if you will, legal opinion or otherwise, on their

         13  justification for that proposed change?

         14                 MR. BRICKMAN: For what might be

         15  called an illegal opinion, and that is simply that

         16  State systems, and although New York has been a

         17  model in some respects, it is still a State system.

         18  State systems don't always embody best practices.

         19  One of the things that we've talked about, and as

         20  Professor Mushlin detailed, is precisely the notion

         21  that New York City has led the way in articulating

         22  and enforcing on itself what most people have come

         23  to view as best practices.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And is it not

         25  true that they point out other states -- they point
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          2  to other states and they want to model the standards

          3  of other states, and those states have had violence

          4  in their jails; is that true?

          5                 MR. BRICKMAN: Well, now you start the

          6  juices flowing. To me, and I'm only one observer,

          7  but to hold the Los Angeles County Jail as a model

          8  of a place where we want to incarcerate our sons,

          9  our daughters, our brothers and our sisters, one of

         10  the most violent urban detention facilities out

         11  there, just makes no sense.

         12                 MR. MUSHLIN: Can I just reiterate,

         13  Los Angeles is now under Court Order, there is a

         14  court-appointed monitor, and that argument, what's

         15  particularly stressing about this is 30 years ago

         16  when New York City had the Tombs, that horrible

         17  place, and when Judge Lasker held the Tombs to be

         18  unconstitutional, the Second Circuit, 30, over 30

         19  years ago, rejected an argument that the City Board

         20  of Correction is making now by pointing to those

         21  other jails, and what the Court of Appeals said then

         22  we ought to remember: they said we can't operate

         23  prisons in New York by the least common denominator,

         24  and that's what this argument is.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And the least
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          2  common denominator is not only Los Angeles, but

          3  Chicago, Philadelphia and Houston.

          4                 MR. MUSHLIN: Well, Philadelphia also,

          5  their prison system, jail system was declared

          6  unconstitutional just a few months ago.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And how can

          8  they possibly, with respect to overtime for

          9  Correction Officers, how could they possibly intrude

         10  and/or exceed their authority with respect to labor

         11  relations?

         12                 MR. LENEFSKY: Well, I might say, I

         13  think I'm accurate in saying that the Correctional

         14  Offices do not approve and object to this reduction

         15  in space in dormitory use, it makes their lives more

         16  dangerous, and they're smart enough to know it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: The limitations

         18  on lock-in and recreation and religion and

         19  visitation and access to courts and access to

         20  counsel, I'm a proud former Legal Aid Attorney,

         21  we're actually always a Legal Aid Attorney, when

         22  you're a Legal Aid Attorney once, you're a Legal Aid

         23  Attorney forever.

         24                 MR. MUSHLIN: So am I.

         25                 Can I just say one other thing about
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          2  23-hour day lock-in for people who aren't even

          3  charged with discipline? I wrote an op ed piece in

          4  the New York Times a year ago when this was being

          5  done, not in New York City, but it's being done in

          6  New York State prisons, and I call this

          7  "state-sponsored torture." I don't think there is

          8  any other way to understand this. There's a whole

          9  lot of psychological literature that's coming out

         10  now that's establishing the proposition that if you

         11  take anybody and you lock them in a small space for

         12  23 hours a day, you're going to severely, severely

         13  threaten their mental health. I think I would go

         14  crazy. If I'm not crazy now, I think I would go

         15  crazy then. And that the City of New York Board of

         16  Correction is proposing that on people that they

         17  don't even claim there is any disciplinary violation

         18  that has transpired is just shocking.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: But in the

         20  absence of cause and in the absence of a court

         21  order, how could they possibly do this? I mean,

         22  doesn't this come down to cost-saving measures? Is

         23  that what this is really all about?

         24                 MR. MUSHLIN: Well, I think that

         25  particular provision is unconstitutional. In my
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          2  understanding --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Which

          4  provision? I'm sorry.

          5                 MR. MUSHLIN: The 23-hour lock-in. I

          6  think that violates the Eighth Amendment which does

          7  apply through the 14th Amendment to pre-trial

          8  detainees.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And I'm sorry,

         10  was someone else going to say something?

         11                 MR. MUSHLIN: I think the Department

         12  would cite economic, what they would call so-called

         13  economic advantages, particularly when it comes to

         14  the reduction in space.

         15                 My reply to that is I said in my

         16  comments any short-term savings, or any savings

         17  would in fact be short-term, and they would be

         18  offset by what I think would be increased costs

         19  sooner rather than later, due to increasing the

         20  prospects of violence in the jails. And when you

         21  have violence in the jails, that costs money, cost

         22  money for medical services, cost money for repair to

         23  the physical plant, so the trade off is a bad one.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Let me just

         25  applaud all of you. I believe you all signed off on
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          2  a letter to the editor in the New York Law Journal I

          3  believe two weeks ago. So, obviously you're

          4  preaching to the converted and obviously I'm very

          5  much opposed to this, and I would urge the Chair and

          6  the Speaker to do all that we can, and this body to

          7  do all that we can to rescind this and remit this,

          8  and I'll be joining my voice in that discussion, as

          9  well as signing on to any lawsuit to challenge these

         10  proposed changes.

         11                 Unfortunately, I have to leave. I

         12  have 600 seniors waiting for me back in Fort Green.

         13  Thank you.

         14                 MR. BRICKMAN: Let me just say that we

         15  welcome your engagement and your interest and we

         16  look to your leadership in doing the right thing

         17  going forward.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you very

         19  much, gentlemen.

         20                 We will be calling up the next panel.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The next panel

         22  includes John Boston of The Legal Aid Society,

         23  Prisoners' Rights Project; Corey Stoughton of the

         24  New York Civil Liberties Union; Gabriel Arkles of

         25  Sylvia Rivera Law Project; and I know Elizabeth
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          2  Gaynes was here from the Osborne Association. I

          3  believe she had to leave, and I don't see Madelyn

          4  here. Madelyn, if you're here? Oh, Madelyn. Madelyn

          5  deLone from the Innocence Project.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Who is here

          7  from the Civil Liberties Union?

          8                 MS. STOUGHTON: Corey Stoughton.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: A pleasure to

         10  have you in particular.

         11                 MS. STOUGHTON: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: The reason I

         13  raise the issue who is here from the Civil Liberties

         14  Union, there is an interesting ceremony going on

         15  downstairs, it actually took me a few more minutes

         16  to come into the Chambers, it appears to be markedly

         17  more than the 300 persons limit that I think was

         18  negotiated with the Civil Liberties after some

         19  litigation.

         20                 MS. STOUGHTON: Yes, I took note of

         21  that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: It seems

         23  interesting how the Administration decides and where

         24  they want to enforce it. I would gather that any

         25  time the expression of individuals' positions and
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          2  their First Amendment would be equal and even-handed

          3  to everyone. And I have nothing but respect for the

          4  heroes that are receiving metals today, but I also

          5  have great respect for the first amendment. And I

          6  think that the City should take note of that, and

          7  the Civil Liberties should take note of that and

          8  speak to Corporation Counsel about how we move

          9  forward on that.

         10                 MS. STOUGHTON: Absolutely. Thanks for

         11  bringing that up.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you. But

         13  now we're back to the hearing of the day, and please

         14  identify yourselves and the organization you

         15  represent and proceed with your testimony, please.

         16                 MR. BOSTON: Thank you.

         17                 My name is John Boston. I am the

         18  Director of the Prisoners' Rights Project of the New

         19  York City Legal Aid Society, and I would like to add

         20  my thanks to those of the other witnesses that this

         21  Committee is hearing us and hearing these issues

         22  which I think truly merit your attention and have so

         23  far been badly neglected.

         24                 We've provided written testimony.

         25  We've provided testimony that we've written for this
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          2  hearing that is a summary of our major concerns

          3  about the proposed amendments, and attached to that

          4  is more extensive documentation that both Prisoners'

          5  Rights Project and the Criminal Defense Division of

          6  Legal Aid have provided to the Board of Correction

          7  itself, which rather thoroughly we believe refutes

          8  the merit and makes a case for rejecting virtually

          9  all of the proposed amendments.

         10                 I also echo the sentiments of the

         11  previous witnesses about the gross deficiencies in

         12  the process that the Board of Correction has

         13  employed, a one-sided process in which only the

         14  regulated agency had a voice, and that bad process

         15  has led to a very bad result.

         16                 The proposed amendments to the

         17  Minimum Standards really amount to little more than

         18  a wishlist for the Department of Correction. There

         19  is simply nothing in them for prisoners, nothing in

         20  them for prisoners' families and people who visit

         21  prisoners on Rikers Island, nothing in them for the

         22  communities that those people come from.

         23                 I'm going to focus my remarks on a

         24  couple of the proposed standards because time is

         25  limited. The first one that I'm going to talk about
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          2  is the space standard. That is a standard for making

          3  dormitories in the City jails more crowded. Who

          4  would have thought that what the New York City jails

          5  need is more crowding?

          6                 We spent two decades or more fighting

          7  about the crowding in New York City. At one point

          8  Legal Aid's litigation led to a release of hundreds

          9  of people from the jails because the City could not

         10  get its act to house them in decently, uncrowded

         11  conditions. That struggle went on for years, and

         12  finally we're at a point where the City jail system

         13  is almost in compliance with the existing standard

         14  where the enormous pressures of prison and jail

         15  population have been relieved, they've built new

         16  facilities. And now what do they want to do? They

         17  want to start cramming people more closely together

         18  again. They want to increase the crowding in

         19  dormitory housing units 20 percent from 50 persons

         20  for dormitory to 60 persons for dormitory, reducing

         21  the available space from 60 square feet per person

         22  to 50 square feet per person.

         23                 Imagine living under the conditions

         24  even under the present standards, having a space to

         25  call your own, six feet by ten feet? It's not much
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          2  bigger than a coffin. And the notion that the New

          3  York City Department of Correction wants to make, as

          4  a matter of choice and not necessity wants to make

          5  that situation worse, is just appalling. It's

          6  appalling in terms of the indignities of

          7  incarceration that are placed on people who have not

          8  yet been convicted of a crime, over 80 percent of

          9  the people in the City jails are pretrial detainees,

         10  but it is also a terrible policy. Crowding is

         11  closely related, as other witnesses suggested, to

         12  violence. Crowding. Crowding people closely together

         13  promotes tension, which increases the risk of

         14  violence. What crowding also does is it makes

         15  housing areas more difficult for staff to supervise,

         16  allowing more violence to occur, and for that

         17  matter, more violence to occur and go unremarked

         18  without the staff even knowing that it is taking

         19  place.

         20                 The people who are the experts on

         21  this subject agree with me on that. The Correction

         22  Officers Benevolent Association has condemned the

         23  proposed decrease and the space standards. In

         24  response to this, and as a partial rationale for

         25  making this change, the Board of Correction says,
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          2  well, we think this can be done safely, because of

          3  the great reduction in stabbings and slashings. It

          4  is true that there are fewer stabbings and slashings

          5  now than there were in the extremely violent decade

          6  of the '90s. The jails, like the rest of society in

          7  New York City has, overall, become somewhat less

          8  violent. But the jails remain very violent places.

          9  And if you look at the data that the Department of

         10  Correction submitted to the Board of Correction on

         11  violence in the jails, what it shows is that

         12  violence is getting worse rather than better. It

         13  makes no sense that in that situation that the

         14  Department of Correction would be crowding people

         15  more closely together and increasing tension and

         16  making supervision more difficult. But in all

         17  categories of violence that they cited, the

         18  stabbings and slashings, the inmate fights resulting

         19  in infractions, the uses of force by staff, and the

         20  allegations of use of force by staff, which

         21  essentially means incidents where Correctional

         22  Officers do not properly report their uses of force.

         23                 In all of those categories from 2005

         24  and 2006, the number of incidents increased, even

         25  though the population either remained flat or
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          2  decreased.

          3                 The Board of Correction also said, as

          4  a supposed rationale for making this change, that

          5  other jails have lower space standards, and that's

          6  true, but as prior witnesses pointed out, many of

          7  those jails are jails that we would really not want

          8  to look towards as models because they are jails

          9  that are racked with violence. They are not even in

         10  compliance with their own overcrowding standards.

         11                 In the Chicago and Houston jails, for

         12  example, hundreds upon hundreds of prisoners

         13  regularly are sleeping on the floors. In the

         14  Philadelphia jails, prisoners were being backed up

         15  in police lock-ups and receiving rooms and they're

         16  housing people on plastic cots, shoving them into

         17  cells that are not built for that many people.

         18                 The crowning irony of the Board's

         19  whole presentation is that they cite the Phoenix

         20  Jail, Maracopa County in Arizona, which is a jail

         21  run by Sheriff Joe Arpayo, who calls himself the

         22  toughest sheriff in New York -- the toughest sheriff

         23  in the United States, and whose idea of correctional

         24  policy and innovation is chain gangs for juveniles,

         25  serving two meals a day, housing prisoners in tent
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          2  cities and making them wear pink underwear. Is that

          3  really the role model that New York City wants to

          4  have for its jail system? I don't think so. And you

          5  ask yourself why is the Board of Correction even

          6  saying these things? It's mysterious. We do not know

          7  the answer, but certainly the bottom line is clear,

          8  under its present leadership, the Board of

          9  Correction has lost any pretense of an arm's length

         10  relationship with the agency that it regulates and

         11  if it is to do its job in the area of crowding or

         12  any other, it must regain that independence.

         13                 I would like to talk about one other

         14  issue, that is the issue of lock-in. What the

         15  Department has proposed and the Board has accepted

         16  is extending 23-hour lock in to the category of

         17  close custody, which comprises people who are

         18  segregated from the rest of the prisoners either

         19  because they are deemed to be dangerous in some way,

         20  or because they are deemed to be in need of

         21  protection. And I think the prior witness's comments

         22  about the unfairness in treating people in that

         23  oppressive way, who have not engaged in jail

         24  wrongdoing and then found guilty of it at a hearing,

         25  is manifestly correct.
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          2                 I would also add, as has also been

          3  suggested, that there is an extensive literature on

          4  the psychological consequences of prolonged isolated

          5  confinement of this sort, both for people with

          6  preexisting psychiatric problems, who as you know

          7  are substantially over-represented in prison and

          8  jail populations, and people who don't have

          9  preexisting problems may well be precipitated into

         10  it by the conditions, of those sorts of conditions

         11  of confinement.

         12                 We have had some discussions about

         13  this issue with the Department of Correction, and

         14  others have as well, and the representation we have

         15  is that we've got it all wrong, because there are

         16  only a few people in this status and they all want

         17  to be there.

         18                 Well, I think that we have

         19  encountered some people who most definitely do not

         20  want to be there who are held there involuntarily

         21  and have found it excruciating and oppressive. I

         22  would mention a Mr. Matthew Cruz, a young

         23  stockbroker from the Bronx, who for reasons I'm not

         24  familiar with, found himself in jail, was placed in

         25  closed custody and committed suicide there.
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          2                 But beyond that, even if it is true

          3  that there are some number of people in closed

          4  custody who do use that regime, and even if it is

          5  true, as it has been asserted that there are some

          6  people in closed custody, who are so dangerous as to

          7  require exceptionally close control and supervision,

          8  there is no guarantee whatsoever, either now or in

          9  the future that that sort of restraint will be

         10  observed by the Department of Correction.

         11                 Unfortunately, just as power

         12  corrupts, security measures proliferate. They

         13  proliferate beyond their original intent, and I

         14  think that having these provisions on the books to

         15  be used both by the present administration and

         16  future administrations is a very dangerous

         17  precedent.

         18                 And I would point out in response to

         19  what we have been told by the Department of

         20  Correction, which is that allowing anything more

         21  than an hour out of cells for this category of

         22  people is unsustainably dangerous, is that even in

         23  the protective custody units of the New York State

         24  prisons, which do contain people who are genuinely

         25  in need of greater security and protection, there is
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          2  much more lock-out time allowed than one hour.

          3                 So, I would just like to conclude by

          4  applauding the Committee for taking the position it

          5  has taken in Chairman Martinez's letter to the Board

          6  of Correction, and suggest that long ago there was

          7  another controversy about the Board of Correction,

          8  and it resulted in a New York Times editorial that

          9  headlined "This Board Needs Correcting." Well,

         10  that's where we are now, and thank you to this

         11  Committee for raising that flag again, making the

         12  point again.

         13                 MS. STOUGHTON: Good afternoon. My

         14  name is Corey Stoughton. I'm here on behalf of the

         15  New York Civil Liberties Union. And let me begin my

         16  remarks by first thanking you, Chair Martinez, for

         17  opening your remarks by identifying the surveillance

         18  issues, which is what I'd like to focus on today.

         19                 The proposed amendments would

         20  increase the Department of Correction's Power to

         21  eavesdrop on telephone calls, to censor publications

         22  received by prisoners, and to read and restrict

         23  correspondence rights, including correspondence

         24  rights with family members and the public at large.

         25                 Under the law as it currently exists,
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          2  and indeed under the current minimum standards, the

          3  Department already has fairly broad power to

          4  restrict communications when there are security

          5  issues. So, on the other side of the equation with

          6  that broad power are the rights of pre-trial

          7  detainees who have not been convicted of any crime,

          8  as well as their families, their children, their

          9  mothers, their fathers, their wives and their

         10  husbands, the members of their community and the

         11  public who would like to communicate with those

         12  people while they are incarcerated pending trial.

         13                 To find the right balance between

         14  these two things that should be primarily

         15  uncontroversial, that the Department should offer a

         16  reason for increasing its authority to restrict

         17  communications and listen in on telephone

         18  conversations and read mail and restrict things like

         19  magazines and publications, but in fact there has

         20  been none, and it's disheartening to know today that

         21  the Board has not even offered to appear to provide

         22  any reason why there should be an increase in this

         23  authority.

         24                 The proposals reflect the process

         25  which has been discussed already extensively today.
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          2  They are not minimum standards, especially when it

          3  comes to surveillance and communications issues,

          4  they are maximum discretion. They are not Minimum

          5  Standards, they are not standards at all, they are

          6  standardless. They universally increase the

          7  Department's discretion, remove oversight of

          8  Department decision-making when it comes to

          9  surveillance and censorship issues, and they reduce

         10  prisoners' rights and offer no justification for

         11  doing that.

         12                 I've identified several examples in

         13  detail in our written remarks which I've submitted

         14  to you, but let me identify four quick examples of

         15  this.

         16                 The first is that the rules would

         17  grant the Department authority to conduct

         18  warrantless, suspicionless telephone surveillance.

         19  Every single prisoner in the system with no need for

         20  a justification whatsoever.

         21                 This program would come along with no

         22  definite system in place to protect privileged

         23  calls. The result is a huge threat to the confidence

         24  of attorney/client communications, and the potential

         25  chilling or provoking of retaliation against
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          2  whistle-blower prisoners. Communications with

          3  pre-trial detainees in New York City jails is the

          4  window on the system, and if there is a

          5  suspicionless, warrantless surveillance program of

          6  all telephone calls, without a system in place to

          7  ensure that calls to oversight agencies, for

          8  example, are protected and are confidential, there

          9  is a serious risk of dampening, of closing that

         10  window on the system.

         11                 The second provision that I would

         12  like to identify is the provision that would allow

         13  the Department to read correspondence without a

         14  warrant, and with no showing -- and this provision

         15  is implemented with no showing that the warrant

         16  requirement is burdensome in any way, or that

         17  interferes with the Department's ability to read

         18  correspondence when there is a genuine threat to

         19  institutional security.

         20                 The third I'd like to identify is the

         21  rules that permit the Department to limit a

         22  prisoner's ability to send and receive

         23  correspondence at all, with no clear standards for

         24  when that is appropriate, and no requirement that

         25  the reasons be documented in written form, so that
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          2  those reasons can be understood, reviewed and

          3  challenged.

          4                 And the final provision I'd like to

          5  identify, keeping with the theme of lack of

          6  oversight and lack of standards, is that the rules

          7  would increase the power of the Department to censor

          8  prisoners' receipt of publications, without making

          9  clear, for example, that publications can't be

         10  sensored merely because they contain controversial

         11  material.

         12                 Prisons around the country have a

         13  record of using broad discretion like this to

         14  restrict publications, to restrict things that are

         15  political, publication that could contain advocacy

         16  issues, and communications from groups indeed like

         17  the ACLU, that advocate for prisoners' rights.

         18                 These four examples are merely

         19  illustrative. As I said, our written comments go

         20  into much more detail, but they capture the

         21  character of the changes proposed here. And again,

         22  that character reflects the process. And I'm really

         23  glad today that the Committee is concerned about

         24  these issues. We echo the call of other groups an of

         25  Chairperson Martinez to cease the process, scrap it
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          2  and start over with a better process that takes into

          3  account prisoners' rights, that listens to the needs

          4  of the community, and that more fairly balances the

          5  Department's perspective with perspectives from

          6  outside the Department.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 MS. ARKLES: My name is Gabriel

          9  Arkles, and I'm a staff attorney at the Sylvia

         10  Rivera Law Project. The Sylvia Rivera Law Project

         11  provides free legal services to low-income people

         12  and people of color who are transgender, intersex or

         13  gender nonconforming. Thank you for the opportunity

         14  to address members of the Council about the proposed

         15  amendments to the Minimum Standards for New York

         16  City jails, an issue of vital importance to

         17  transgender communities in New York.

         18                 We are deeply troubled by the process

         19  that led to these proposed amendments, and by the

         20  amendments themselves which would worsen the already

         21  unacceptable conditions in City jails.

         22                 The substance of practically all of

         23  the proposed changes, including those regarding

         24  surveillance of phone calls and mail, lock-in,

         25  language access, and overcrowding, will hurt
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          2  prisoners needlessly and have particularly serious

          3  consequences for transgender and gender

          4  nonconforming prisoners. Because of time

          5  constraints, I will focus on the standard regarding

          6  uniforms.

          7                 Imagine, for a moment, what it would

          8  be like for a young woman to be arrested and told

          9  she is going to be put in a men's jail. She is

         10  forced to strip in front of male Correction

         11  officers, and turn over her panties, bra and any

         12  other article of clothing that the Correction

         13  officers deem as, quote/unquote too feminine. If she

         14  refuses, she is attacked and restrained while other

         15  officers tear all of her clothes from her body. She

         16  is then left in a men's jail with no bra or bra or

         17  female underwear, wearing only those clothes left to

         18  her. If she is given any replacement clothes at all,

         19  they are men's clothes, probably don't fit and may

         20  be filthy. That is exactly what happens to

         21  transgender women in New York City jails today, and

         22  is at least as traumatic, humiliating and dangerous

         23  for them, as it would be for any other women.

         24                 As written, the proposed amendment to

         25  the standard for clothing, not only will not address
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          2  this problem, it will actually make it worse, by

          3  increasing the amount of control over every aspect

          4  of the clothing of detainees through uniforms.

          5                 There is nothing in the proposed

          6  amendment to prevent transgender detainees from

          7  losing the last shreds of their ability to express

          8  their gender through whatever clothing is left to

          9  them after current practices.

         10                 The proposed standard would also

         11  allow uniforms to further strain already woefully

         12  inadequate laundry facilities; to result in

         13  ill-fitting, undignified uniforms, not adequate for

         14  the weather, and to subject detainees tot he bias

         15  associated with jail uniforms at all court dates

         16  other than trials.

         17                 The proposed uniform standard may

         18  have had as a part of its motivation a very

         19  legitimate consideration, there are prisoners on

         20  Rikers who do not have adequate clothing of their

         21  own.

         22                 An open dialogue among stakeholders,

         23  including current and former prisoners, could have

         24  resulted in a proposal that would have addressed

         25  these and other problems with clothing in jails,
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          2  resulting in proposed new clothing standard that

          3  would be a win/win situation to everyone. However,

          4  because of the complete lack of community input on

          5  the standard, the proposed change will further harm

          6  prisoners.

          7                 Additionally, I would like to note

          8  that it is outrageous that the Board and its

          9  sweeping purportedly comprehensive proposed

         10  revisions, has not proposed any changes to improve

         11  protections for prisoners, such as changing the

         12  non-discriminatory treatment policy to include

         13  gender identity, gender expression or disability,

         14  all forms of discrimination the City Council has

         15  already made against the law.

         16                 I believe the City Council should be

         17  disturbed by this fact, given the Council's

         18  commitment to ending discrimination in the City of

         19  New York, including discrimination against

         20  transgender and disabled people. It is especially

         21  important in light of the fact that transgender

         22  prisoners are targeted for extreme physical and

         23  sexual violence, abusive searches, denial of

         24  necessary health care and other forms of

         25  discrimination. The proposed amendments to the
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          2  Minimum Standards must be rejected and a genuinely

          3  inclusive process must be initiated to review what

          4  really needs to be changed about New York City

          5  jails.

          6                 I encourage the City Council to do

          7  everything within its power to make that happen.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 MS. DeLONE: Good morning, or

         10  afternoon now. My name is Maddy deLone. Thank you.

         11  I'm the Executive Director of the Innocence Project,

         12  which is affiliated with Cardozo Law School at

         13  Yeshiva University.

         14                 I just thank you for inviting us all

         15  here today, and for taking the initiative to try to

         16  create a process of public discussion about the

         17  standards.

         18                 I will note that the hearing on April

         19  17th, for those of you who couldn't be there, that

         20  the Board held, was an opportunity for people to

         21  speak at the Board, but in fact did not explicitly,

         22  there was not a time for discussion, there was no

         23  time for question and answers and there was no

         24  opportunity for give and take. There was no time for

         25  the community to get exactly the same courtesy that
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          2  the Department of Correction apparently got for the

          3  two years leading up to the proposals and I think

          4  that's part of what the community is asking for.

          5                 Just one more thing on process before

          6  I turn to substance of a couple of the standards;

          7  and that is, I've given to every member of the

          8  Council the May 7th letter that was sent by the

          9  Coalition to raise the Minimum Standards at New York

         10  City jails to the Board of Correction. It describes

         11  our concerns, collective concerns with the process

         12  and also spells out a couple of considerations and

         13  elements of an improved process we recommend, and I

         14  hope as we all move forward, we'll keep those

         15  recommendations in consideration.

         16                 The Innocence Project represents

         17  people with claims of innocence across the country,

         18  whose claims can be proven with DNA evidence and so

         19  far in this country there have been 203 people who

         20  have been proved innocent by DNA, post conviction,

         21  serving an average of 12 years inside prisons for

         22  crimes that they did not commit.

         23                 In New York there have been 24 DNA

         24  exonerations, including many from New York City who

         25  spent time in the New York City jails. We are
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          2  currently representing dozens of clients across the

          3  State who were sentenced in New York, again, many of

          4  them in the City jails, and one thing that unites

          5  almost all of our clients across the country in New

          6  York State and from New York City is the desire to

          7  take their collective experiences and make the lives

          8  of others who have served time in jails and prisons,

          9  whether innocent or guilty better. They have

         10  suffered and want those who remain behind and those

         11  who come after them to be better treated.

         12                 The Innocence Project also has

         13  particular interests in the concerns that the

         14  presumption of innocence is protected in the

         15  criminal justice system, and some of these standards

         16  that are proposed by the Department -- I mean by the

         17  Board, unfortunately will make the presumption of

         18  innocence much harder to maintain and much harder to

         19  advocate for. And the three particular standards

         20  I'll just briefly touch on, so you'll have time to

         21  listen to the community members who also will follow

         22  me, people whose lives have been directly affected

         23  by these standards and will be moving forward. The

         24  three particular standards that I bring to your

         25  attention are:
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          2                 - The interpreter standards. The lack

          3  of a requirement for staff. I think the point was

          4  made earlier, paid staff, staff who have an

          5  obligation of confidentiality, an obligation of

          6  quality to be provided to prisoners in the jails in

          7  Spanish.

          8                 There are some allegations or

          9  suggestions at the Board that there was no intention

         10  to eliminate the current level of services for

         11  Spanish-speaking prisoners, but there is certainly

         12  nothing in the standards that would suggest that is

         13  true. The standards live on. People's intentions

         14  today must be codified in those standards and they

         15  must be carefully reviewed so there can be no

         16  question tomorrow when the people with whatever good

         17  intentions are no longer there to interpret them.

         18                 - Access to Law Library Resources is

         19  a little standard. It's a proposal. The revision is

         20  1-08(f)(7), and that standard has to do with the

         21  inventory of materials to be available to prisoners

         22  in the New York City jails.

         23                 We know well from our work at the

         24  Innocence Project that despite the best intention of

         25  many and efforts of many, many public defenders and
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          2  private counsel, that prisoners are often very

          3  useful in representing themselves and in assisting

          4  their lawyers in finding out things about the law.

          5  Many of our clients came to us only because they

          6  could use law libraries and knew what their rights

          7  were to post-conviction DNA testing, and we strongly

          8  urge that the Board does not eliminate its right to

          9  see what the materials are in the jails and to make

         10  sure that the Law Libraries have the materials the

         11  prisoners need to help represent themselves both in

         12  the pretrial and post-conviction setting.

         13                 - Clothing is another area where

         14  people have spoken today so far. The standard as

         15  currently proposed would allow prisoners to wear

         16  their own clothes or street clothes only when they

         17  go to trial. It is our experience that some of the

         18  worst injustices in the criminal justice system in

         19  fact happen in a pretrial context when judges alone,

         20  not juries, where judges alone are considering

         21  claims of suppression of evidence, of compelled

         22  statements, of eyewitness identification procedures,

         23  if a person walks into a courtroom wearing a

         24  jumpsuit, already shackled that's orange, there is

         25  no presumption of innocence. There is every reason
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          2  to believe that that person is absolutely guilty. If

          3  you or I with private counsel walked into a

          4  courtroom wearing an orange jumpsuit or a green one,

          5  our lawyer would send us home, because there is no

          6  way that you can get a fair and adequate trial.

          7                 Allowing people to wear their own

          8  clothing outside of the jail, we will hear later, I

          9  believe, from people who will talk about the

         10  importance in maintaining a decent family

         11  relationship, but the importance of being able to

         12  wear your own clothes and real civilian clothes

         13  outside of a jail setting is in conformance with

         14  international standards that require the same.

         15  Certainly New York City should do no less.

         16                 There was talk earlier, and I just

         17  want to quickly address it. In addition to being the

         18  Executive Director now of the Board, I've spent all

         19  of my adult professional time since I moved to New

         20  York in 1984 working in and around the City jails

         21  and prisons. I worked as a staff attorney at The

         22  Legal Aid Society for seven years, and I was the

         23  Deputy Director of the Board of Correction from 1988

         24  to 1991, where I oversaw with great pride these

         25  standards. Standards are forever. They declare our

                                                            120

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  sort of contract in our City with the way we believe

          3  people should be treated when we lock them up in

          4  jails. I was proud to defend those very rights that

          5  are being proposed to be diminished today. Thirty

          6  years later, as the Board reviews these standards,

          7  they should engage with the community, the process

          8  should make these standards better, not worse. We

          9  should find ways of treating people with more

         10  dignity, assuring safety and security.

         11                 The standards outlast any

         12  administration, anybody's momentary needs, even

         13  anyone's momentary best intentions. They are

         14  forever. They have been 30 years til now, they will

         15  be 30 years before they are changed again, and when

         16  the City of New York does it, they should do it

         17  right. We should do it in a way that makes people

         18  proud, that protects decency, and that does not

         19  leave us looking like an embarrassment in the

         20  nation. And really, you know, there were questions

         21  of cost raised earlier. I mean, I think I saw an

         22  exchange of e-mails that Professor Mushlin had

         23  circulated from people around the country. I mean,

         24  there may be cost concerns in the City of New York,

         25  but we really should not have those concerns on the
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          2  backs of the innocent who have not yet been proven

          3  guilty of the poorest of our community, of the

          4  people of color in our community, if we have to

          5  figure out how to save money in the City of New York

          6  there are other ways to share the burden than to

          7  make the jails more dangerous to the people who live

          8  there and the people who work there.

          9                 I really applaud your request and

         10  your letter, Chairman Martinez, to rescind the

         11  schedule as it was adopted, to suspend consideration

         12  of these proposed changes. If the Board feels they

         13  must vote, I would suggest that they vote no at this

         14  point on each and every one of these proposals, and

         15  to formulate a reasonable schedule for considering

         16  and discussing with members of the community in ways

         17  that they discussed it with the Department of

         18  Correction, the changes of the Board's standards, to

         19  create a set of standards which protect dignity, a

         20  set of standards which we can all be proud.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         23                 You made reference to the civil

         24  liberties and the issue of the communication on

         25  proposals of religion where the Department of
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          2  Correction Executive Director of Ministerial

          3  Services would be required to approve a religious

          4  advisor who conducts services and provides religious

          5  counseling in a Department of Correction facility,

          6  and the Deputy Commissioner for Programs would have

          7  to approve any group not previously recognized for

          8  its members to have the right to exercise their

          9  belief; have you made a determination on that? Have

         10  you looked at this proposal?

         11                 MR. BOSTON: I'll respond to that,

         12  since we have taken a position on it. And our

         13  position is that it seems to convey, just as the

         14  communications an surveillance proposals do, an

         15  enormous amount of completely standardless

         16  discretion, and it's unclear to us what the Board is

         17  trying to accomplish with this standard. This is one

         18  of many where the supposed explanation that appears

         19  in their notice doesn't really explain anything, it

         20  just recounts what the standard says. So, we are

         21  mystified by it and we are also alarmed by it and it

         22  may be there is a perfectly innocent intent, but the

         23  words on paper create a risk and they should either

         24  make clearer what they're trying to do or drop it

         25  entirely.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Wouldn't this

          3  be a conflict of religious right? I mean, currently

          4  if you're in jail and have whatever religious belief

          5  you have, you could practice it, correct?

          6                 MR. BOSTON: That is correct, within

          7  some practical limits made necessary by the fact

          8  that you're incarcerated, but in fact Congress has

          9  enhanced the protection of religious rights in

         10  prison with the religious Land Use and

         11  Institutionalized Person's Act relatively recently,

         12  so as a matter of law religious rights have stronger

         13  protection than many other rights. If they're

         14  proposing to pick and choose which religious

         15  practices and which religious groups they're going

         16  to allow, then they are treading on very dangerous

         17  ground, and if they have no standards that say on

         18  what the criteria they're going to make those

         19  decisions, as they do not in this standard, then

         20  there is a good argument that it's not good on its

         21  face, without any further inquiry into what they

         22  really mean.

         23                 MS. STOUGHTON: And let me add that

         24  that's not a hypothetical threat, although it is

         25  unclear what the Department is trying and what the
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          2  Board is trying to accomplish with this, there has

          3  been litigation all over the country, a lot of it by

          4  ACLU affiliates, where prisons using excessively

          5  vague standards, not unlike the one that's proposed

          6  in this change to the Minimum Standards, have used

          7  that discretion to limit perfectly legitimate

          8  religious groups from getting the kind of

          9  certification they need to gather and hold religious

         10  services in prison systems.

         11                 And to the extent that that rule

         12  creates room for the kind of problem, it should be

         13  looked at very carefully.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: On that same

         15  issue that captured my attention, when they propose

         16  that under this new proposal, it would prohibit

         17  prisoners confined for medical reasons in contagious

         18  disease unit, it would prohibit them from

         19  congregating. Now, in other words, if you're in a

         20  contagious disease unit, you will not congregate and

         21  pray. So, I'm thinking that if there are, we

         22  wouldn't have the answer and wouldn't know what

         23  they're thinking, there are three or four prisoners

         24  in the unit, the contagious disease unit, and they

         25  decided they want to have a prayer because they're
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          2  sick, they don't want that to happen anymore?

          3                 MR. BOSTON: I don't think that

          4  happens now. I think the contagious disease units

          5  are really --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: They're

          7  individual.

          8                 MR. BOSTON: They're individual cells,

          9  it's a regime of isolation, and they don't just put

         10  people in there who have a bad cold. It's for people

         11  with tuberculosis and more seriously contagious

         12  conditions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Correct.

         14                 MR. BOSTON: So, of all the things in

         15  these proposals, I think that is one that we are

         16  least concerned about. There are many others that we

         17  are very concerned about, as you know.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: On the

         19  communication, there are some who believe that

         20  because we've had incidents where threats were being

         21  made to the Police Commissioner, to police officers,

         22  to witnesses, that there is in fact a need, or

         23  that's a justification to monitor these telephone

         24  conversations; what would you say to that?

         25                 MS. STOUGHTON: That's no
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          2  justification at all. The law already allow

          3  surveillance communications if there was reason to

          4  believe that those kinds of threats and illegal

          5  activity were occurring. Getting a warrant in New

          6  York is not difficult at all. In fact, it's too

          7  easy, frankly. But that being what it is, there is

          8  really no reason why the current authorities the

          9  Department has wouldn't cover a situation like that

         10  and protect the Department from that kind of

         11  situation. There is no need for a warrant list

         12  surveillance program to address that problem.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I'm sorry, I

         14  forgot what group you represent. The name of the

         15  group?

         16                 MR. ARKLES: Sylvia Rivera Law

         17  Project.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Do you believe

         19  that part of what the Department has already

         20  instituted, which is eliminating the gay housing,

         21  and now with this provision that does not provide

         22  any further protection for the gay, transgender

         23  community, that this particular proposal that

         24  doesn't address these specific issues, particularly

         25  now when you're going to make the jails, the

                                                            127

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  dormitories smaller, and where you're going to have

          3  inmates that are sentenced with those that are not,

          4  is this a threat to the transgender, gay community

          5  in the City?

          6                 MR. ARKLES: Absolutely. You might

          7  hear a little bit more about this in the next panel,

          8  but transgender people, of course, are at very high

          9  risk for violence from other inmates, as well as

         10  Correction Officers in jails. As you mentioned, one

         11  system they had for dealing with that was gay

         12  housing, where gay and transgender inmates were

         13  placed, and many community members felt this was a

         14  much safer option for them, they were with other gay

         15  and transgender people, they were less likely to

         16  experience inmate-on-inmate violence, some people

         17  also felt that the Correction Officers, working with

         18  them, were more sensitized to the issues.

         19                 Since that has been eliminated, one

         20  of the very few options for transgender people to

         21  get protection is in 23-hour lock-in, and 23-hour

         22  lock-in and rape are not acceptable choices. No one

         23  should have to choose between getting raped or be in

         24  solitary confinement where their mental health could

         25  be destroyed.
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          2                 Additionally, anything that increases

          3  violence is going to have a disproportionate impact

          4  on transgender people, as there is increasing

          5  overcrowding, rising tensions will hurt transgender

          6  people and other vulnerable inmates more than

          7  others.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Let me just

          9  ask, I'm sorry, what was your name again, sir?

         10                 MR. BOSTON: John Boston.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Would the

         12  current proposal to have the county jails, such as

         13  Brooklyn, they're looking at the Bronx also, do you

         14  believe that part of the reasoning, and again, I'm

         15  not expecting you to have the exact thinking, but I

         16  see the issue of smaller dormitory as an issue of

         17  getting more individuals into these county jails

         18  they're proposing to build; do you think that this

         19  would be a threat in terms of threat not so much to

         20  the community, but more, the potential for more

         21  violence within the jail, which will definitely have

         22  an impact on the surrounding community?

         23                 MR. BOSTON: I think that crowding

         24  people more in any jail creates a greater risk of

         25  violence and makes it more difficult for the staff
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          2  to keep matters under control. The extent to which

          3  that spills over into the surrounding community,

          4  since the people are locked up, is questionable, but

          5  it has different kinds of affects. You know,

          6  everybody that is in the jails, you know, is

          7  somebody's son, somebody's daughter, somebody's

          8  spouse, somebody's sibling, and that's the effect

          9  that it has. You know, whether my friend or my

         10  relative is in jail in Brooklyn, the Bronx or Rikers

         11  Island, if that person is stabbed or injured, or if

         12  that person is brutally beaten, you know, it has an

         13  effect on me in the community.

         14                 So, that is the community in effect

         15  of more violence in the jails, I would say, as well

         16  as, of course, the effect when you have, you know,

         17  more than, I think well over 100,000 people admitted

         18  to the jails and released from the jails very year,

         19  having that many members of our community cycling

         20  through an environment that is simply more violent

         21  and dangerous than it needs to be, that has to have

         22  a more subtle and pervasive effect on the character

         23  of life in our City as a whole.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Can you tell me

         25  a little bit about your opinion on the impact of the
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          2  first 24 hour, the detention no-contact visit, the

          3  impact on detainees with mental health problems?

          4                 MR. BOSTON: I think that the first 24

          5  hours in confinement is a devastating period for

          6  many people.

          7                 The heavy majority of suicides in

          8  custody, as I understand it, occur within the first

          9  day or two after incarceration, and I read these

         10  cases in the law books about jail suicides within 24

         11  hours of arrest. It's like they're made with a

         12  cookie-cutter. I think that for people who have a

         13  preexisting vulnerability, either a mental illness,

         14  or just youth and unfamiliarity with being in jail,

         15  I think those are the people who most need the

         16  immediate support from family and community and the

         17  shock of being put in the situation of incarceration

         18  and being separated from your loved ones by a pane

         19  of glass or a screen, I think can be exceptionally

         20  dangerous and even life-threatening to some people.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you for

         22  your testimony, you all.

         23                 MR. ARKLES: Thank you.

         24                 MR. BOSTON: Thank you.

         25                 MS. DeLONE: Thank you.
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          2                 MS. STOUGHTON: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: The next panel.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The next panel

          5  will include Barry Campbell, if Barry is still here,

          6  from the Fortune Society. De Avery Irons from the

          7  Correctional Association, Juvenile Justice Project;

          8  Deborah Wright, President of the Association of

          9  Legal Aid Attorneys; United Auto Workers, UAW, Local

         10  2325; and June Brown from the Sylvia Rivera Law

         11  Project.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Because of the

         13  time constraint that we have, we have to be out of

         14  here by 1:30, and we have other panels. I'm going to

         15  again defer to the clock. So, I will ask you that

         16  since we have your testimony for the record, please

         17  summarize it in your testimony.

         18                 MS. IRONS: I think the last person to

         19  testify, there is only one other person scheduled to

         20  testify and that's --

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Is that Makeba?

         22                 MS. IRONS: Yes, Makeba.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Is there

         24  anybody else here to testify? Have you filled out a

         25  slip? You have to fill out a slip.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: See the

          3  Sergeant-At-Arms here to your right -- to your left.

          4  My left, your right.

          5                 You can start your testimony, please.

          6                 MS. IRONS: Good afternoon. My name is

          7  De Avery Irons. I'm the Juvenile Justice Project

          8  Associate at the Correctional Association of New

          9  York. I'd like to thank you today for holding this

         10  hearing and for the opportunity to present this

         11  testimony.

         12                 The Juvenile Justice Project

         13  coordinates the Juvenile Justice Coalition, which is

         14  an alliance of about 50 organizations working to

         15  create a more fair and humane juvenile justice

         16  system in New York. And we also run two youth

         17  leadership programs that work with formerly

         18  incarcerated young people.

         19                 Today I'd like to focus my brief

         20  comments on the overcrowding revised standard. The

         21  Board has stated that this is an appropriate move

         22  right now because of a decrease in slashings and

         23  stabbings; however, we at the Juvenile Justice

         24  Project don't feel that that's an appropriate

         25  indicia of the violence that is actually occurring
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          2  in the adolescent units on Rikers Island, that would

          3  be the Robert N. Davoren Center, formerly the ARDC.

          4  We think that violence is still endemic in RNDC, and

          5  part of this is the actual current ratio, the one to

          6  50 ratio. We don't possibly see how adding ten more

          7  young people to the dormitories in RNDC will not

          8  exacerbate the current problems.

          9                 Through our youth work we've been

         10  able to speak with dozens of young people who have

         11  come out of the RNDC and they've reported extremely

         12  troubling levels of violence. They reported to us

         13  that Correction Officers and staff members regularly

         14  appoint, or allow teams of young people, to

         15  essentially control the house, these teams are young

         16  people who are either gang affiliate or have the

         17  toughest reputations for fighting in the houses.

         18  These teams then control food distribution, they

         19  control access to day room privileges, they control

         20  access to telephone calls, regularly distribute

         21  punishment, and generally implement torture and

         22  abuse in the houses.

         23                 One young person said, that I

         24  interviewed and spoke with, he said, you had to join

         25  a gang so you could live. If not, in every house
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          2  they want to take your food, your phone call. If you

          3  want to be by yourself, you don't want to live in

          4  Rikers. If you're 16, 17, 18 it's like hell.

          5                 Another young man named Jeffrey that

          6  I interviewed said, somebody is always getting

          7  violated, punched, choked out, all through the house

          8  until you go to sleep. You have to fight to win or

          9  else you're going to wind up hanging yourself from a

         10  towel.

         11                 The idea that the Board of Correction

         12  is allowing the Department of Correction to

         13  implement a standard that will decrease space in

         14  this current space is already causing so much

         15  violence is absolutely absurd to us.

         16                 We ask that you urge the Board of

         17  Correction and the members that the City Council has

         18  appointed to vehemently reject the proposed

         19  standards as they stand, and to go back to the table

         20  and come up with standards that actually look at

         21  safety and security, actually increasing it. And

         22  actually look at standards that will take into

         23  special consideration the needs of adolescents that

         24  are on Rikers Island.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 MS. BROWN: Hi. My name is June Brown.

          3  I'm the Communications Coordinator for the Sylvia

          4  Rivera Law Project. As my colleague, Gabriel Arkles

          5  had let you guys know, the Sylvia Rivera Law Project

          6  deals with transgender, gender nonconforming and

          7  intersex people of color, who are low-income as

          8  well. Many of our clients have been incarcerated.

          9  And I just want to thank you for allowing myself and

         10  others to testify today in regards to the Board of

         11  Correction's Minimum Standards and the proposed

         12  changes to such standards.

         13                 I would like to leave you all

         14  quickly, leaving this hearing today being aware of

         15  the horrors faced by transgender prisoners due to

         16  the current Minimum Standards and how the system is

         17  run, to I want to prove how these changes to the

         18  Minimum Standards would make situations even worse;

         19  and finally, how you can help, all right? Even

         20  before entering the prison system, transgender

         21  people, specifically transgender women, are

         22  routinely profiled by police as being prostitutes

         23  and are immediately arrested based on these

         24  allegations.

         25                 These transgender women are then
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          2  placed in the men's prison system, where due to

          3  their gender identities, they face tremendous

          4  harassment, violence, rape or even murder.

          5                 Now, the now defunct transgender and

          6  gay housing unit, which was spoken about before in

          7  Rikers, which protected a number of trans women in

          8  the City prison system, well, since its closing,

          9  trans women have only been given the option to be

         10  placed in solitary confinement or 23 lock-in, as has

         11  been discussed before. Where though this is a claim

         12  to protect the prisoner, the prisoner is placed in a

         13  small cell, with no human contact, for 23 hours out

         14  of the day, and one hour long break in between and

         15  so far this method of protection has already proven

         16  to be psychologically shattering and unbearable for

         17  one inmate who committed suicide in Rikers, as was

         18  discussed before on the previous panel.

         19                 This is a proposed change to the

         20  Minimum Standard, to I guess have the 23-hour

         21  lock-in with no, like, one-hour break, and another

         22  change that had garnered negative feelings for me

         23  and could only make things worse is the eradication

         24  of contact visits within the first 24 hours, which

         25  you've spoken of. And in addition to not allowing
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          2  prisoners to hug or even shake hands with their

          3  visitors, guards will be allowed to eavesdrop on

          4  prisoners' phone calls and look through prisoners'

          5  mail.

          6                 As the 23-hour solitary confinement

          7  proved to be psychologically trying to that prisoner

          8  who committed suicide in Rikers, the same goes to

          9  other prisoners who simply need additional

         10  protection, not additional torture.

         11                 Also, the proposed changes to contact

         12  visits, searching through mail, invasion of phone

         13  calls are cruel, unnecessary proposals that can only

         14  produce needless anger towards the system from

         15  prisoners and their visitors, not to mention

         16  allowing such changes can only lead to more

         17  corruption in prisons amidst the prison guards,

         18  along with major abuses of power.

         19                 You can help by making sure the

         20  Minimum Standards changes are not passed. As a

         21  matter of fact, by taking into consideration the

         22  suggestion made of reopening a unit solely for

         23  transgender prisoners, prisoners in need of

         24  protection --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Can I ask you
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          2  to wrap up?

          3                 MS. BROWN: Okay. As opposed to

          4  keeping them confined to a cell would be a step in

          5  the right direction. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you.

          7                 MS. LAVAN: Hello. He, everyone. My

          8  name is Makeba Lavan and I'm here representing

          9  Children of Incarcerated Parents and the Osborne

         10  Association.

         11                 I co-facilitate a Saturday Arts

         12  Workshop at the Osborne Association, and I also host

         13  a weekly video journalism column on the Internet

         14  about children of incarcerated parents, and you

         15  know, issues that they face. I also work in Sing

         16  Sing Prison on Saturdays. And I'm here to discuss

         17  more of what I discussed on April 17th at the Board

         18  of Correction's public hearing, and I just once

         19  again urge, you know, the Children's Bill of Rights

         20  to actually be used as a checklist for minimum

         21  standards. And I will just read those for you. They

         22  were originally developed by the San Francisco

         23  Children of Incarcerated Parents Partnership, and

         24  they are:

         25                 - I have the right to be kept safe
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          2  and informed at the time of my parents' arrest;

          3                 - to be heard when decisions are made

          4  about me;

          5                 - to be considered when decisions are

          6  made about my parents;

          7                 - to be well cared for in my parents'

          8  absence;

          9                 - to speak with, see, and touch my

         10  parents;

         11                 - to support as I face my parents'

         12  incarceration;

         13                 - not to be judged, blamed or labeled

         14  because my parents' incarceration; and

         15                 - I have the right to a life-long

         16  relationship with my parents.

         17                 And these rights are basic human

         18  rights but they currently are not being upheld for

         19  children of incarcerated parents.

         20                 And it is very possible to take

         21  security concerns seriously and to implement

         22  policies that reduce the likelihood of contraband

         23  and violence, while also being mindful of children

         24  and families who care deeply about the people who

         25  are in the Department of Correction's custody.
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          2                 The current policies and practices of

          3  the criminal justice system, including the New York

          4  City Department of Corrections, convey that

          5  sacrificing children's well-being is the acceptable

          6  collateral damage of incarceration.

          7                 This is unavoidable cost of

          8  protecting society. So, in revising the minimum

          9  standard, the Board of Correction has an opportunity

         10  to take a stand that this will no longer be so, and

         11  that we will not sacrifice children's well being and

         12  bright futures in exchange for holding their parents

         13  accountable, who no longer accept the negative and

         14  damaging messages, inconsiderate treatment, and

         15  painful experiences for children whose parents are

         16  in the DOC's custody at an inevitable side effect of

         17  carrying out a mandate for Corrections.

         18                 We recognize the importance of

         19  maintaining security, and agree that people should

         20  be held accountable for their actions, yet we also

         21  believe there is a way to develop correctional

         22  policies that consider the child's perspective and

         23  achieve penal goals while also safeguarding the next

         24  generation. And I believe it's very important for

         25  the 2.4 million children in this country who have a
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          2  parent in jail or prison, not to consider holding

          3  DOCs accountable for these standards. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you.

          5                 MS. WRIGHT: Good afternoon. My name

          6  is Deborah Wright. I am the President of the

          7  Association of the Legal Aid Attorneys, which is UAW

          8  Local 2325.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:

         10  Congratulations, Deborah.

         11                 MS. WRIGHT: Thank you.

         12                 We represent the approximately 850

         13  lawyers at The Legal Aid Society, the Federal

         14  Defenders of New York and the Public Defenders of

         15  Orange County. LAA urges the Board to seriously

         16  rethink the shameful proposed amendments in Minimum

         17  Standards for New York City jails, not only rethink,

         18  but begin this process all over again.

         19                 The Board has actually taken steps

         20  backwards, dangerously backwards in lowering the

         21  standard by which the Department of Corrections can

         22  operate the City jails. In reading them, it becomes

         23  very clear that they have forgotten that the

         24  subjects upon whom these standards are imposed are

         25  still human beings who deserve the same protections
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          2  and rights as you and I enjoy.

          3                 As a newly elected President I am

          4  proud to say that the Association of Legal Aid

          5  Attorneys has spent most of its time since its

          6  inception in 1969 working collectively to ensure the

          7  rights of the poorest people in New York City. I

          8  have spent the last nine years of my life as a

          9  public defender with Legal Aid here in Manhattan. I

         10  have seen, but more importantly, have heard from my

         11  clients what it truly means to be a poor kid growing

         12  up in certain neighborhoods in New York. These

         13  proposed changes to the Minimum Standards will only

         14  make things worse.

         15                 I want to tell you about a client of

         16  mine who I represented not that long ago, and how

         17  disastrous these changes would have been for him

         18  while he was incarcerated.

         19                 He was 16 years old. He had never

         20  been arrested before. The only constant in his life

         21  was his mom, who worked two jobs to support them

         22  both. What most didn't know about him was that he

         23  was terribly physically and sexually abused as a

         24  toddler at the hands of his father, who is no longer

         25  in his life.
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          2                 He had been in and out of the

          3  hospital, City hospitals, since the age of seven for

          4  psychological reasons. He had been undergoing

          5  testing and treatment for what appeared to be the

          6  early onset of schizophrenia, that the year before

          7  his arrest, at one of the lowest points in his young

          8  life, dealing with his past and the uncertainty of

          9  what was happening to him now, he attempted suicide.

         10                 Luckily, his mother found him in

         11  time. He was already beginning to go down what was

         12  sure to be a long, hard road in life. Already

         13  labeled in school by society as someone who is

         14  different. He was constantly being picked on in

         15  school and one day he chose to fight back. He was

         16  quickly arrested and unfortunately, held in on bail

         17  that his mother could not post.

         18                 So, what would have happened to him

         19  under these new changes? With a no-contact visit

         20  policy during the first 24 hours, his mother would

         21  not have been able to visit him. She would not have

         22  been able to tell him the medication that he was

         23  currently taking, and how important it was that he

         24  was to tell the Health Services staff at Rikers

         25  Island that he needed this medication. But more
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          2  importantly, she would not have been able to see her

          3  son, touch her son, reassure her son during those

          4  crucial first 24 hours in a place where he had never

          5  been before, a dangerous place, that he would be

          6  okay to work with me, his attorney, and to simply

          7  hang on and not give up, but more importantly to not

          8  take his life as he had begun to express again.

          9                 Twenty-three hour lock-down would

         10  have led him to feeling even more isolated from

         11  society, like he didn't belong, like he didn't

         12  deserve to belong to society like you and me. His

         13  mental state surely would have decompensated to the

         14  point where I would have no longer been able to work

         15  with him as his attorney, thus prolonging his stay

         16  in the system by having him transferred to a State

         17  psychiatric hospital.

         18                 The uniforms. He already was made to

         19  feel different than the rest of society. Think about

         20  how he would have felt wearing that uniform. Coming

         21  to court for all to see, especially the judge

         22  presiding over his case. Not yet convicted of any

         23  crime, but merely standing there accused, again

         24  being told that he is different than the rest of

         25  society.

                                                            145

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 It boggles my mind that the Board is

          3  actually proposing to decrease the amount of space

          4  per prisoner to in effect promote further

          5  overcrowding of the City jails instead of improving

          6  the situation. This client had been attacked twice

          7  while he was at Rikers Island and had his stuff

          8  stolen from him. He cried to me repeatedly as he

          9  told me how intense the atmosphere was in that dorm

         10  and how he was afraid to sleep at night. He told me

         11  he didn't know if he would make it to his next court

         12  date.

         13                 These changes are disgusting, and

         14  must not be placed into effect. When I think back on

         15  this client and how those changes would have

         16  affected him, I think his mother probably would have

         17  buried her son, instead of hugging and kissing him

         18  in the court room when he was finally released many

         19  months after he was arrested.

         20                 Finally, as for the changes to the

         21  phone and the mail system, leave them alone. We all

         22  have our fundamental rights of privacy. That is what

         23  everyone enjoys. Do not punish the whole for the

         24  missteps of the few. There are already procedures in

         25  place to deal with that. And please, do not be
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          2  fooled into believing that it is hard in New York

          3  City to get a warrant. As a public defender for nine

          4  years, I can attest to how easy it is. There are

          5  procedures in place - use them. Do not create a

          6  situation where we're going to add to the numerous

          7  factors that already exist in making the youth of

          8  New York feel like they are not citizens of our

          9  society, that they do not belong.

         10                 This is their reality, and this is

         11  what we need to finally acknowledge. This is their

         12  reality that we need to change, not make worse.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Sir.

         15                 MR. CAMPBELL: Barry Campbell, again,

         16  Chairman. I want to thank you for the opportunity to

         17  come here. Yesterday I was out on Rikers Island from

         18  8:30 in the morning until 4:00 in the afternoon. I

         19  pretty much had run of the place and I went up and

         20  down. And one of the things that disturbed me the

         21  most was to see the 23-hour lock-in protective

         22  custody. I went into the adolescent and to look at

         23  the faces of those individuals through a glass pane

         24  in a window on a door and see these young men

         25  sitting in there, isolated for their own protection.
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          2  Segregation is what we use as a punitive measure on

          3  Rikers Island, not as a protective one. It is a

          4  punitive measure, not a protective one. They are

          5  human beings, and, again, I don't have the answer to

          6  it, but if you need to protect somebody, you don't

          7  punish them. And that's what they're doing. They're

          8  punishing them.

          9                 The other piece that I want to talk

         10  about is that while I was told in Rikers Island, in

         11  the back of the day room on the chairs was

         12  everybody's clothes that they had washed, draped out

         13  to dry. You can't adequately wash detainees' clothes

         14  right now, and you're telling me that you're going

         15  to be able to do total uniforms?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I'm sorry. Will

         17  you repeat that again?

         18                 MR. CAMPBELL: In the back of the day

         19  room, in detainee housing, the chairs are lined up

         20  with clothes draped over them that the detainees

         21  have washed in the sink with a bar of soap. So, if

         22  there is inadequate washing for the detainees'

         23  civilian clothes, you're telling me you're going to

         24  do better with uniforms? I don't think so.

         25                 The other piece about it is that

                                                            148

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  housing 60 people in a dorm, and may I just tell

          3  you, Councilman, I've lived in a dorm with 50

          4  people, the tensions are so thick you could cut it

          5  with a knife. There is an excessive amount of

          6  violence due to the mental stress that you go

          7  through of your case, being in there separated from

          8  your family, and being in a room with 50 other

          9  individuals that you're sharing the bathroom with

         10  that you're living with on a daily basis, attitudes

         11  fly.

         12                 I argue with my family from time to

         13  time, it's different when you're living in a dorm

         14  with 49 other people and you get into an argument.

         15  It's totally different. And adding ten more people

         16  to the equation intensifies the situation.

         17                 The other piece about it which you've

         18  heard here universally is that the process in which

         19  they came up with these standards, to sit down and

         20  meet with the Board of Correction for two years, if

         21  not more, having that dialogue with them and then

         22  coming up with these standards, and not asking the

         23  people that they affect the most, the people that

         24  have been incarcerated, that are incarcerated, their

         25  family members. You know, it's so funny, because
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          2  when you think about it again, it comes back down to

          3  the race, because Jeremy Travis printed out the

          4  million dollar blocks. Seven neighborhoods in New

          5  York City that pretty much supply the State prison

          6  facility. All of those individuals come through the

          7  City facility first. So, you're talking about that

          8  we don't matter, and that's wrong because I do

          9  matter. My brothers and sisters do matter. It is

         10  important that we have input on something that's

         11  going to affect not only us but in some cases our

         12  loved ones. And it's very important that we have a

         13  say so in that. And so I think the best process

         14  right now is that we ask them to scrap everything

         15  and go back to the drawing board, sit down with

         16  community members, community leaders, program,

         17  service providers, and the Department of Correction

         18  and work out something that is a level playing

         19  field, because we have not done that yet. And

         20  because we have not, I think sitting here arguing

         21  point-by-point does not make sense, they all need to

         22  be scrapped from day one. Thank you very much.

         23                 MS. SCHWARZ: Hi. Good afternoon. My

         24  name is Ghita Schwarz, and I am Associate Counsel at

         25  Puerto Rican Legal Defense and Education Fund.
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          2                 Since 1972, PRLDEF has been a leading

          3  force in the fight for civil rights of Latinos.

          4  Using the power of the law, as well as education and

          5  advocacy, PRLDEF protects opportunities for Latinos

          6  to succeed in work and in school, and to sustain

          7  their families and communities.

          8                 We're grateful to Chairman Martinez

          9  for this opportunity to discuss these important

         10  issues and their impact on the community.

         11                 PRLDEF strongly opposes the Proposed

         12  Amendments to the Minimum Standards, while we object

         13  to any reduction in the Minimum Standards, I will

         14  confine my very brief remarks today to the

         15  amendments that affect language access for prisoners

         16  who don't speak English.

         17                 Since 1978, Section 101 of the

         18  Minimum Standards, titled Non-Discriminatory

         19  Treatment, has required that every facility have a

         20  sufficient number of employees and volunteers who

         21  are fluent in Spanish. Bilingual staff facilitate

         22  access to confidential health care, help inmates

         23  understand crucial rules and procedures, and provide

         24  numerous forms of assistance for Spanish-speaking

         25  prisoners.
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          2                 For almost 30 years, New York City

          3  has recognized that without regular and stable

          4  access to Spanish-speaking staff, prisoners who are

          5  not fluent in English face enormous barriers to

          6  equal treatment.

          7                 The proposed amendments would

          8  eliminate the requirement for a sufficient number of

          9  Spanish-speaking staff. Instead, a new provision

         10  states that, "procedures will be employed to ensure

         11  that non-English-speaking prisoners understand all

         12  written and oral communications from facility staff

         13  members.

         14                 While this provision articulates a

         15  laudable goal that, of course, PRLDEF supports, it

         16  is not a substitute for adequate bilingual staffing.

         17  The proposed amendments do not specify what

         18  procedures will be implemented or how they will

         19  guarantee that prisoners' needs will be met. We're

         20  very concerned that the proposed change will hurt

         21  the ability of limited English speakers to navigate

         22  the Correction system.

         23                 Adequate language access means that

         24  an ill prisoner can have privacy and communications

         25  with a medical care provider, or that a new inmate
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          2  can properly understand the disciplinary rules of

          3  the facility. Reducing Spanish-speaking staff

          4  increases the chances that health privacy laws would

          5  be violated, when an inmate facing a medical

          6  emergency is forced to use another inmate to

          7  translate.

          8                 Reducing Spanish-speaking staff

          9  increases the risk of disruption when an inmate does

         10  not understand an order from monolingual

         11  English-speaking staff.

         12                 In proposing these amendments, the

         13  Board of Correction offer no evidence that

         14  Spanish-speaking staff are less necessary today than

         15  in 1978, nor has the Board provided any other

         16  justification for the reduction of bilingual

         17  services to prisoners.

         18                 In fact, relaxing the

         19  Spanish-speaking requirement makes no sense. A

         20  sufficient number of competent Spanish-speaking

         21  staff is crucial to prisoner well-being, as well as

         22  to the orderly operation of a correctional facility.

         23  If implemented, these proposed amendments will harm

         24  both inmates and the Correction system as a whole.

         25  We urge the City Council to do everything possible
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          2  to recognize the devastating community impact of the

          3  proposed changes, and to stop any reduction in the

          4  Minimum Standards.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you for

          7  your testimony. Seeing no additional panel at this

          8  time, we're going to conclude the oversight hearing,

          9  and we want to state for the record that the

         10  transcript of this hearing and the submitted

         11  testimony will be submitted to the Board as part of

         12  the public input for the Board in the coming days.

         13  Again, thank you for the testimony. Thank you for

         14  coming here, and we will continue to monitor and

         15  follow the development with respect to the proposed

         16  changes to the Minimum Standards. I will continue to

         17  seek further support from my colleagues here in the

         18  Council in addressing this important issue, and

         19  bringing more public attention to this matter, as it

         20  develops.

         21                 Again, thank you. At this time,

         22  meeting adjourned.

         23                 (Hearing concluded at 1:13 p.m.)

         24
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